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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These forward-looking statements are identified by terms and phrases such as: anticipate, believe, intend, estimate, expect,
continue, should, could, may, plan, project, predict, will, potential, forecast, and similar expressions. They are based on management’s
reasonable expectations and assumptions as of the date the statements are made but involve risks and uncertainties. These risks and
uncertainties include, without limitation: that Linde plc may be unable to achieve expected synergies from the business combination of
Praxair and Linde AG or that it may take longer or be more costly than expected to achieve those synergies; the performance of stock
markets generally; developments in worldwide and national economies and other international events and circumstances, including
trade conflicts and tariffs; changes in foreign currencies and in interest rates; the cost and availability of electric power, natural gas and
other raw materials; the ability to achieve price increases to offset cost increases; catastrophic events including natural disasters,
epidemics and acts of war and terrorism; the ability to attract, hire, and retain qualified personnel; the impact of changes in financial
accounting standards; the impact of changes in pension plan liabilities; the impact of tax, environmental, healthcare and other
legislation and government regulation in jurisdictions in which the company operates; the cost and outcomes of investigations,
litigation and regulatory proceedings; the impact of potential unusual or non-recurring items; continued timely development and
market acceptance of new products and applications; the impact of competitive products and pricing; future financial and operating
performance of major customers and industries served; the impact of information technology system failures, network disruptions and
breaches in data security; and the effectiveness and speed of integrating new acquisitions into the business. These risks and
uncertainties may cause actual future results or circumstances to differ materially from accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, International Financial Reporting Standards or adjusted projections, estimates or other forward-looking
statements.

Linde plc assumes no obligation to update or provide revisions to any forward-looking statement in response to changing
circumstances. The above listed risks and uncertainties are further described in the Principal Risks and Uncertainties section of this
report, which should be reviewed carefully. Please consider Linde plc’s forward-looking statements in light of those risks.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

General

Linde plc is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland with its principal offices in the United Kingdom. Linde
plc was formed in 2017 in accordance with the requirements of the business combination agreement, dated 1 June 2017, as amended,
between Linde plc, Praxair, Inc. ("Praxair") and Linde Aktiengesellschaft ("Linde AG"). Effective 31 October 2018, the business
combination was completed and Linde plc is comprised of the businesses of Praxair and Linde AG (hereinafter the combined businesses
will be referred to as "the company"” or "Linde").

The business combination brought together two leading companies in the global industrial gases industry, leveraging the proven
strengths of each. Linde believes the merger will combine Linde AG’s long-held expertise in technology with Praxair’s efficient operating
model, thus creating a global leader. The company is expected to have strong positions in key geographies and end markets and will
create a more diverse and balanced global portfolio.

Linde is the largest industrial gas company worldwide and is a major technological innovator in the industrial gases industry.
Its primary products in its industrial gases business are atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, and rare gases) and process gases
(carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, and acetylene). The company also designs, engineers, and builds
equipment that produces industrial gases primarily for internal use and offers its customers a wide range of gas production and
processing services such as olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas plants and other types of
plants.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healthcare, petroleum refining, manufacturing, food, beverage
carbonation, fiber-optics, steel making, acrospace, chemicals and water treatment.

In 2018, the company, Praxair and Linde AG entered into various agreements with regulatory authorities to satisfy antitrust
requirements to secure approval to consummate the business combination. These agreements required the sale of the majority of
Praxair's European industrial gases business (completed on 3 December 2018), the majority of Linde AG's Americas industrial gases
business (completed on 1 March 2019), select assets of Linde AG's South Korea industrial gases business (completed 30 April 2019),
select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed 12 July 2019), select assets of Linde AG's Indian industrial gases
business (completed 16 December 2019) as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG businesses in Asia that are
expected to be sold in 2020. As of 31 December 2018 and until the completion of the majority of such divestitures, Linde AG and
Praxair were obligated to operate their businesses globally as separate and independent companies, and not coordinate any of their
commercial operations. The U.S. Federal Trade Commission's (“FTC”) hold separate order (“HSO”) restrictions were lifted 1 March
2019, concurrent with the sale of the required merger-related divestitures in the United States. See Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements for additional information relating to divestitures.

Praxair was determined to be the accounting acquirer in the business combination. Accordingly, the historical financial
statements of Praxair for the periods prior to the business combination are considered to be the historical financial statements of the
company. The results of Linde AG are included in Linde's consolidated results from the date of the completion of the business
combination forward. During 2018, the company reported its continuing operations in six reporting segments under which it managed
its operations, assessed performance, and reported earnings: North America, South America, Asia, Europe, Surface Technologies and
Linde AG. Effective with the lifting of the hold separate order on 1 March 2019, new operating segments were established. Linde’s
industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represents three of the company's new reportable segments -
Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia/South Pacific); a fourth reportable segment which represents the
company's Engineering business, designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications
specifically for end customers and is managed on a worldwide basis operating in all geographic segments. Other consists of corporate
costs and a few smaller businesses, which individually do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

Industrial Gases Products and Manufacturing Processes

Atmospheric gases are the highest volume products produced by Linde. Using air as its raw material, Linde produces oxygen,
nitrogen and argon through several air separation processes of which cryogenic air separation is the most prevalent. Rare gases, such
as krypton, neon and xenon, are also produced through cryogenic air separation. As a pioneer in the industrial gases industry, Linde is
a leader in developing a wide range of proprietary and patented applications and supply systems technology. Linde also led the
development and commercialization of non-cryogenic air separation technologies for the production of industrial gases. These
technologies open important new markets and optimize production capacity for the company by lowering the cost of supplying
industrial gases. These technologies include proprietary vacuum pressure swing adsorption (“VPSA”) and membrane separation to
produce gaseous oxygen and nitrogen, respectively.



Process gases, including carbon dioxide, hydrogen, carbon monoxide, helium, specialty gases and acetylene are produced by
methods other than air separation. Most carbon dioxide is purchased from by-product sources, including chemical plants, refineries and
industrial processes or is recovered from carbon dioxide wells. Carbon dioxide is processed in Linde’s plants to produce commercial and
food-grade carbon dioxide. Hydrogen and carbon monoxide can be produced by either steam methane reforming or auto-thermal reforming
of natural gas or other feed streams such as naphtha. Hydrogen is also produced by purifying by-product sources obtained from the
chemical and petrochemical industries. Most of the helium sold by Linde is sourced from certain helium-rich natural gas streams in the
United States, with additional supplies being acquired from outside the United States. Acetylene is primarily sourced as a chemical by-
product, but may also be produced from calcium carbide and water.

Industrial Gases Distribution

There are three basic distribution methods for industrial gases: (i) on-site or tonnage; (ii) merchant or bulk liquid; and (iii)
packaged or cylinder gases. These distribution methods are often integrated, with products from all three supply modes coming from the
same plant. The method of supply is generally determined by the lowest cost means of meeting the customer’s needs, depending upon
factors such as volume requirements, purity, pattern of usage, and the form in which the product is used (as a gas or as a cryogenic liquid).

On-site. Customers that require the largest volumes of product (typically oxygen, nitrogen and hydrogen) and that have arelatively
constant demand pattern are supplied by cryogenic and process gas on-site plants. Linde constructs plants on or adjacent to these customers’
sites and supplies the product directly to customers by pipeline. On-site product supply contracts generally are total requirement contracts
with terms typically ranging from 10-20 years and containing minimum purchase requirements and price escalation provisions. Many of
the cryogenic on-site plants also produce liquid products for the merchant market. Therefore, plants are typically not dedicated to a single
customer. Advanced air separation processes allow on-site delivery to customers with smaller volume requirements. Customers using
these systems usually enter into requirement contracts with terms typically ranging from 10-20 years.

Merchant. The merchant business is generally associated with distributable liquid oxygen, nitrogen, argon, carbon dioxide,
hydrogen and helium. The deliveries generally are made from Linde’s plants by tanker trucks to storage containers at the customer's site
which are owned and maintained by Linde and leased to the customer. Due to distribution cost, merchant oxygen and nitrogen generally
have a relatively small distribution radius from the plants at which they are produced. Merchant argon, hydrogen and helium can be
shipped much longer distances. The customer agreements used in the merchant business are usually three-to seven-year requirement
contracts.

Packaged Gases. Customers requiring small volumes are supplied products in metal containers called cylinders, under medium
to high pressure. Packaged gases include atmospheric gases, carbon dioxide, hydrogen, helium, acetylene and related products. Linde
also produces and distributes in cylinders a wide range of specialty gases and mixtures. Cylinders may be delivered to the customer’s
site or picked up by the customer at a packaging facility or retail store. Packaged gases are generally sold under one to three-year supply
contracts and through purchase orders.

A substantial amount of the cylinder gases sold in the United States is distributed by independent distributors that buy merchant
gases in liquid form and repackage the products in their facilities. Packaged gas distributors, including Linde, also distribute hardgoods
and welding equipment purchased from independent manufacturers. Over time, Linde has acquired a number of independent industrial
gases and welding products distributors at various locations in the United States and continues to sell merchant gases to other independent
distributors. Between its own distribution business, joint ventures and sales to independent distributors, Linde is represented in 48 states,
the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.

Engineering

Linde’s Engineering business has a global presence, with its focus on market segments such as olefin, natural gas, air separation,
hydrogen and synthesis gas plants. The company utilizes its own extensive process engineering know-how in the planning, project
development and construction of turnkey industrial plants and associated services. Linde plants are used in a wide variety of fields: in
the petrochemical and chemical industries, in refineries and fertilizer plants, to recover air gases, to produce hydrogen and synthesis
gases, to treat natural gas and to produce noble gases. The Engineering business either supplies plant components and services directly
to the customer or to the industrial gas business of Linde, which operates the plants on behalf of the customer under a long-term gases
supply contract.



BUSINESS REVIEW

On 31 October 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses through an all-stock merger transaction, and
became subsidiaries of Linde plc. The year ended 31 December 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results of
Linde AG for the period beginning after 31 October 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of acquisition ("purchase")
accounting (see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements). The year ended 31 December 2019 reflects the results of Praxair and
Linde AG for the entire year.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following table provides summary results of operations of Linde plc for 2019 and 2018:

(Millions of dollars)

Year Ended 31 December 2019 2018 Variance

Revenue $ 28,758 § 14,973 13,785 92 %

Cost of sales (includes depreciation) 20,869 10,626 10,243 96 %

Marketing and selling expenses, and Research and development costs

(includes depreciation and amortization) 5,073 2,374 2,699 114 %

Net gain on divestiture of businesses and other operating income and

expenses - net 234 3,737 (3,503) (94)%

Operating profit from continuing operations 3,050 5,710 (2,660) 47)%
Operating Margin 10.6% 38.1%

Financial expenses - net 108 248 (140) (56)%

Share of profit and loss from associates and joint ventures (at equity) 63 54 9 17 %

Income tax expense 812 811 1 NM

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS $ 2193 §$ 4705 $ (2,512) (53)%
attributable to Linde plc shareholders $§ 2,061 $ 4685 $ (2,624) (56)%
attributable to noncontrolling interests 132§ 20 112 NM

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS - LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS $ 378 $ 14.02 (10.24)  (73)%

Results of Operations, 2019 Compared With 2018

Sales increased 92% to $28,758 million in 2019 compared to $14,973 million in 2018 primarily due to the merger, net of related
divestitures. Volume increased sales by 1% driven by higher volumes largely in the APAC segment, including new project start-ups.
Higher pricing across all geographic segments contributed 3% to sales. Currency translation decreased sales by 2% driven by the
weakening of the Brazilian real, Canadian dollar and Chinese yuan against the US dollar. Lower cost pass-through, primarily natural
gas, decreased sales by 1% with minimal impact on operating profit.

Cost of sales increased 96% to $20,869 million in 2019 compared to $10,626 million in 2018 primarily due to the merger, net of
related divestitures. Cost of sales for 2019 was negatively impacted by $1,337 million for additional depreciation and amortization
related to purchased accounting and a $11 million charge for the fair value step-up of inventories acquired in the merger. Also, cost of
sales includes cost reduction programs and other charges of $154 million in 2019, primarily related to costs associated with executing
planned synergies and an asset impairment in APAC of approximately $73 million ($42 million, after tax and noncontrolling interests)
resulting from an unfavorable arbitration ruling.

Marketing and selling expenses, and Research and development costs ("SG&A/R&D") increased $2,699 million in 2019 to
$5,073 million, primarily due to the merger. SG&A/R&D for 2019 includes $660 million for additional depreciation and amortization
related to the required purchase accounting. Also, SG&A/R&D includes cost reduction programs and other charges of $413 million in
2019 and $309 million in 2018, primarily related to merger transaction costs and the costs associated with executing planned
synergies.

Net gain on divestiture of businesses and other operating income and expenses - net in 2019 and 2018 include net gains on sales
of businesses of $164 million and $3,778 million, respectively, for merger-related divestitures (See Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements). Other expenses — net in 2019 was a $70 million benefit versus a $41 million expense in 2018 (See Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements for a summary of major components).



Operating profit of $3,050 million in 2019 was $2,660, or 47% lower than operating profit of $5,710 in 2018. 2019 includes
Linde AG's operating results for the full year and a gain on merger-related divestitures of $164 million, which was offset by purchase
accounting impacts of $2,008 million related to the merger (see Notes 1, 2, and 3 to the consolidated financial statements), and $567
million in cost reduction program and other charges. 2018 included Linde AG's operating results from October 31, 2018 forward and a
net gain on merger-related divestitures of $3,778 million, partially offset by purchase accounting impacts of $739 million and $309
million of merger-related charges. Excluding these impacts, operating profit increased as the impacts of higher pricing and volumes
were partially offset by unfavorable currency impacts and cost inflation. A discussion of operating profit by segment is included in the
segment discussion that follows.

Financial expense — net in 2019 decreased $140 million, or 56%, versus 2018. 2019 and 2018 included decreases of $96 million
and $21 million, respectively, related to purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value of debt acquired in the merger (see Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements). 2018 also included charges of $26 million relating to the early redemption of notes.

Share of profit and loss from associates and joint ventures (at equity) increased $9 million in 2019 versus 2018 primarily driven by
income from equity investments acquired in the merger, primarily in APAC and EMEA.

The effective tax rate ("ETR") for 2019 was 27.0% versus 14.7% in 2018. 2018 included the impact of the sale of Praxair's
European industrial gas business (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements).

Profit from continuing operations for 2019 was $2,193 million, $2,512 million or 53% lower than $4,705 million in 2018
primarily due to the 2018 gain on merger-related divestitures, partially offset by the merger.

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations - Linde plc shareholders ("EPS") of $3.78 in 2019 decreased $10.24 per
diluted share, or 73% from $14.02 in 2018, primarily due to lower profit from continuing operations and an increase in diluted shares
resulting from equity acquired in the merger.



SEGMENT DISCUSSION

Effective 31 October 2018, Praxair and Linde AG completed the previously announced merger, resulting in the formation of Linde
plc (see Notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information). For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
company’s operations were organized into six reportable segments: North America, Europe, South America, Asia, Surface Technologies
and Linde AG. Effective with the lifting of the “Hold Separate Order” on 1 March 2019 new operating segments were created which are
used by the company's Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") to allocate company resources and assess performance. Linde’s
operations consist of two major product lines: industrial gases and engineering/other. Linde’s industrial gases operations are managed
on a geographic basis, which represents three of the company's new operating segments - Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa),
and APAC (Asia/South Pacific); a fourth operating segment which represents the company's Engineering business, designs and
manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers and is managed on a
worldwide basis. Each of these operating segments is a separate reporting segment for financial reporting purposes. Other consists of
corporate costs and a few smaller businesses which individually do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

Historically and through 2019, Linde assessed the performance of the operating segments determined in accordance with US
GAAP. Accordingly, the analysis of key performance indicators and the associated segment discussion that follows are based on US
GAAP results. A reconciliation from US GAAP results to those determined under EU-IFRS (“IFRS”) for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 is also provided. The following summary of US GAAP sales and operating profit by segment provides a
basis for the discussion that follows (for additional information concerning Linde’s segments, see Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements). Linde evaluates the performance of its reportable segments based on US GAAP operating profit, excluding the items not
indicative of ongoing business trends as disclosed in Note 26 (“Segment operating profit”).

The table below presents sales and operating profit information about reportable segments and Other for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018. The year ended 31 December 2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The
year ended 31 December 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after
31 October 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting. Prior periods presented have been recast to be consistent
with the new segment structure.

(Millions of dollars)

Year Ended 31 December 2019 2018 Variance

Sales

Americas $ 10,993 § 8,017 $ 2,976 37%
EMEA 6,643 2,644 3,999 151%
APAC 5,839 2,446 3,393 139%
Engineering 2,799 459 2,340 510%
Other 1,954 1,270 684 54%
Total US GAAP Sales $ 28,228 $ 14,836 $ 13,392 90%
GAAP adjustments ' 530 137 393

Total IFRS Sales $ 28,758 $ 14973 $ 13,785 92%

(1) Related to consolidation of certain entities for IFRS, not for US GAAP.



(Millions of dollars)

Year Ended 31 December 2019 2018 Variance
Operating Profit
Americas $ 2,578 § 2,053 $ 525 26 %
EMEA 1,367 481 886 184 %
APAC 1,198 465 733 158 %
Engineering 390 14 376 2,686 %
Other (245) (37) (208) 562 %
Segment operating profit 5,288 2,976 2,312 78 %
Cost reduction programs and other charges ' (567) (309) (258) 83 %
Net gain on sale of business * 164 3,294 (3,130) (95)%
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG * (1,952) (714) (1,238) 173 %
US GAAP consolidated operating profit  $ 2,933 § 5247 $ (2,314) (44)%
GAAP adjustments * 117 463 (346) (75)%
IFRS consolidated operating profit $ 3,050 $ 5710 $§ (2,660) 47)%

(1) Linde recorded cost reduction programs and other charges of $567 million and $309 million for 2019 and 2018, respectively, primarily related to
merger and synergy-related costs and an asset impairment in the third quarter 2019 of approximately $73 million related to a joint venture in
APAC resulting from an unfavorable arbitration ruling. These charges are not included in management's view of segment profitability.

(2) In 2019, related to the sale of select Indian assets resulting in a gain of $164 million. 2018 relates the sale of Praxair’s European industrial gases
business under US GAAP. The sale of this business under IFRS resulted in a net gain on divestiture of $3,778, a difference of $484 million due
to the cumulative currency translation differences for all foreign operations having been set to zero as at 1 January 2017 due to IFRS 1. See Note
3 for further detail related to merger-related divestitures.

(3) Related to the impacts of the required purchase accounting related to the merger transaction under US GAAP (see Note 2).
(4) Primarily related to differences in accounting between US GAAP and IFRS such as: consolidation of entities, pension accounting and the

aforementioned net gain on Praxair's European divestiture.

Americas

The Americas segment includes Linde’s industrial gases operations in approximately 20 countries including the United States,
Canada, Mexico and Brazil.

Sales for 2019 increased $2,976 million, or 37%, versus 2018, primarily due to the merger. Higher pricing contributed 3% to sales.
Unfavorable currency translation decreased sales by 2%, primarily driven by the weakening of the Brazilian real, Mexican peso and
Canadian dollar against the U.S. Dollar. Lower cost past-through, primarily natural gas, decreased sales by 1% with minimal impact on
operating profit.

Operating profit in 2019 increased $525 million, or 26% from 2018 largely driven by the merger and higher pricing, partially offset
by unfavorable currency translation impacts of 2%. Operating profit for 2018 also included net gains on asset disposals of $13 million.

EMEA

The EMEA segment includes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 45 European, Middle Eastern and African
countries including Germany, France, Sweden, the Republic of South Africa, and the United Kingdom.

Sales in 2019 increased $3,999 million, or 151% from 2018 driven primarily by the net impact of the merger with Linde AG and
the related divestiture of Praxair's European gases business in the fourth quarter of 2018. Excluding this net impact, sales decreased 2%.
Volumes decreased 1% driven by weaker industrial production. Higher price contributed 1% to sales. Unfavorable currency translation
and cost pass-through each decreased sales by 1%.

Operating profit in 2019 increased $886 million, or 184% from 2018 driven primarily by the net impact of the merger with Linde
AG and the related divestiture of Praxair's European gases business in the fourth quarter of 2018.
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APAC
The APAC segment includes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 20 Asian and South Pacific countries and regions

including China, Australia, India, South Korea and Taiwan.

Sales in 2019 increased $3,393 million, or 139% versus 2018 driven by the merger. Unfavorable currency translation decreased
sales by 3%, driven primarily by the weakening of the Chinese yuan, Korean won and Indian rupee against the U.S. Dollar. Excluding
the impacts of the merger and currency, sales increased by 6% driven by higher base volumes, new project start ups and higher price.

Operating profit for 2019 increased $733 million, or 158%, versus 2018 driven by the net impact of the merger with Linde AG.
Unfavorable currency translation decreased operating profit by 3% for the year. Excluding the merger and currency impacts, operating
profit growth was driven by higher price and cost reduction programs.

Engineering

Sales in 2019 increased $2,340 million, or 510%, versus 2018 primarily related to the merger of the Linde Engineering business.
Excluding the impact of the merger, volume growth of 8% was partially offset by unfavorable currency translation of 2%.

Operating profit in 2019 increased $376 million versus 2018 related primarily to the merger of the Linde Engineering business.
Other

Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses including: Surface Technologies, GIST, global helium wholesale,
and Electronic Materials; which individually do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

Sales in 2019 increased $684 million, or 54% versus 2018 primarily due to the merger which increased sales by 47%. Higher
volumes and price increased sales by 9% in the year, primarily driven by higher surface technologies volumes to the acrospace and
manufacturing end-markets and higher price. Currency translation decreased sales by 2% for the year.

Operating profit in 2019 decreased $208 million versus 2018 primarily related to the merger as operating profit increases from
higher volumes and price were more than offset by the merger of Linde AG corporate.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

The following table provides a summary of consolidated financial position of Linde plc as of 31 December 2019 and 2018:

(Millions of dollars) 31/12/2019  31/12/2018 Variance
Goodwill $§ 27,148 $ 26,738 $ 410 2 %
Other intangible assets 16,818 17,281 (463) (3)%
Tangible assets 29,689 30,693 (1,004) 3)%
Other assets 10,700 9,668 1,032 11 %
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 320 5,670 (5,350) (94)%
Cash and cash equivalents 2,790 4,533 (1,743) (38)%
TOTAL ASSETS $ 87465 $ 94,583 $ (7,118) 8)%
Equity T 041 T 57789 T (5648 (10)%
Pensions obligations and other provisions 3,705 3,098 607 20 %
Financial debt 13,947 15,289 (1,342) (9)%
Other liabilities 17,587 17,544 43 — %
Liabilities in connection with non-current assets classified as held for

sale 85 863 (778) (90)%
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES $ 87465 $ 94,583 $ (7,118) 8)%

Goodwill increased $410 million to $27,148 million as of 31 December 2019 from $26,738 million as of 31 December 2018.
This increase is primarily related to measurement period adjustments related to the merger with Linde AG and acquisitions,
partially offset by negative currency translation (see Notes 2 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements).

Other intangible assets — net decreased $463 million to $16,818 million as of 31 December 2019 from $17,281 million as of
31 December 2018. This decrease is primarily related to the amortization of finite lived intangible assets and the impact of
negative currency translation, partially offset by measurement period adjustments related to the merger with Linde AG and
acquisitions (see Notes 2 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements).

Tangible assets (Property, plant and equipment — net) decreased $1,004 million to $29,689 million as of 31 December 2019
from $30,693 million as of 31 December 2018. This decrease is primarily related to the depreciation of the tangible assets partially
offset by capital expenditures (see Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements).

Other assets increased $1,032 million to $10,700 million as of 31 December 2019 from $9,668 million as of 31 December
2018. This increase is primarily related to the recognition in the consolidated statement of financial position of the right of use
assets of $1,168 million as required under IFRS 16 (see Notes 2 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements).

Non-current assets classified as held for sale net of liabilities in connection with non-current assets classified as held for sale
was $235 million at 31 December 2019 versus $4,807 million at 31 December 2018. The reduction was primarily driven by merger-
related divestitures in the Americas, South Korea and India completed during 2019 (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements).

Cash and cash equivalents decreased $1,743 million to $2,790 million as of 31 December 2019 from $4,533 million as of 31
December 2018. Operating cash flow of $6,560 million and cash inflows from investing activities of $1,164 million were more
than offset by cash outflows for financing activities of $9,391 million. See the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" discussion below
for further detail. The cash is available for corporate uses, including among others capital expenditures and share repurchases.

Equity decreased $5,648 million to $52,141 million as of 31 December 2019 from $57,789 million as of 31 December 2018.
This decrease was primarily driven by the completion of the cash merger squeeze-out of the remaining 8% Linde AG shareholders
in April 2019 which reduced equity by $3.2 billion, net share repurchases of $2,586 million and $1,891 million of dividend
payments to Linde plc shareholders, partially offset by net income of $2,287 million (see the statement of changes in consolidated
equity and Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements).

Pension obligations and other provisions increased $607 million to $3,705 million as of 31 December 2019 from $3,098
million as of 31 December 2018. This increase is primarily related to the revaluation of pension obligations which was negatively
impacted by a reduction in discount rates, most significantly in EMEA.
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Financial debt (the sum of short-term debt, current portion of long-term debt and long-term debt), decreased $1,342 million to
$13,947 million as of 31 December 2019 from $15,289 million as of 31 December 2018 driven primarily by debt repayments-net
during 2019 (see "Liquidity and Capital Resources" discussion below and Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements).

Other liabilities increased $43 million to $17,587 million as of 31 December 2019 from $17,544 million as of 31 December
2018. This increase is driven by the recognition in the consolidated statement of financial position of lease liability of $1,130
million as required under IFRS 16 (see Notes 2 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements), which was largely offset by timing
of accruals related to incentives and taxes, and the impact of currency translation.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Following is a summary of the consolidated statement of cash flows:

(Millions of dollars)

Year Ended 31 December 2019 2018 Variance

Cash flow from operating activities $ 6,560 $ 3,683 $ 2,877

Cash flow from investing activities 1,164 5,435 4,271)

Cash flow for financing activities (9,391) (5,031) (4,360)

Other cash activity (76) (171) 95
Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,743) 3,916 (5,659)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning -of-period 4,533 617 3,916
Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-period $ 2,790 $ 4533 $ (1,743)

Cash decreased $1,743 million in 2019 versus 2018. The primary sources of cash in 2019 were cash flows from operations of
$6,560 million and proceeds from divestitures and asset sales of $5,091 million. The primary uses of cash included capital
expenditures of $3,702 million, cash dividends to shareholders of $1,891 million, transactions with noncontrolling interests of
$3,310 million and net purchases of ordinary shares of $2,586 million.

Operating cash flows

Cash flows from operations was $6,560 million, or 23% of sales, an increase of $2,877 million from $3,683 million, or 25%
of sales in 2018. The increase was primarily attributable to the merger, higher net income adjusted for non-cash charges, partially
offset by higher working capital requirements and higher merger and synergy related cash outflows.

Investing cash flows

Net cash provided by investing activities of $1,164 million decreased $4,271 million from $5,435 million in 2018. This
decrease in investing cash flows was primarily driven by lower proceeds from merger-related divestitures, cash acquired in the
merger and higher capital expenditures.

Divestitures and asset sales in 2019 totaled $5,091 million primarily driven by proceeds from merger-related divestitures
including $3.4 billion from the sale of Linde AG's Americas business, $1.2 billion from the sale of Linde Korea, and approximately
$200 million each from the sale of the legacy Praxair and legacy Linde India selected assets (see Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements).

Capital expenditures in 2019 were $3,702 million, an increase of $1,816 million from 2018, driven primarily by the merger
with Linde AG. Capital expenditures during 2019 related primarily to investments in new plant and production equipment for
growth. Approximately 44% of the capital expenditures were in the Americas segment with 33% in the APAC segment and the rest
primarily in the EMEA segment.

Acquisition expenditures in 2019 were $225 million, an increase of $200 million from 2018 and related primarily to
acquisitions in the Americas.

Financing cash flows

Linde’s financing strategy is to secure long-term committed funding by issuing public notes and debentures and commercial
paper backed by a long-term bank credit agreement. Linde’s international operations are funded through a combination of local
borrowing and inter-company funding to minimize the total cost of funds and to manage and centralize currency exchange
exposures. As deemed necessary, Linde manages its exposure to interest-rate changes through the use of financial derivatives.

Cash used for financing activities was $9,391 million in 2019 compared to $5,031 million in 2018. The primary financing
uses of cash were for transactions with noncontrolling interests, net debt repayments, cash dividends and net purchases of Linde
ordinary shares. Noncontrolling interest transactions and other payments of $3,310 million increased $2,885 million
from 2018 driven by a payment of approximately $3.2 billion for the cash-merger squeeze-out of the 8% of Linde AG shares
completed on 8 April 2019 (see Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements). Amounts paid in 2018 include $315 million for
the purchase of the noncontrolling interest in Praxair's Italian joint venture in a merger-related transaction (see Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements) and $25 million in interest related to the early redemption of bonds (see Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements). Cash dividends of $1,891 million increased $725 million from 2018 driven primarily by higher
shares outstanding after the merger and a 6% increase in dividends per share from $3.30 to $3.50. Net purchases of ordinary shares
were $2,586 million in 2019 versus $522 million in 2018 driven by increased share repurchases. The cash used for debt
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repayments-net of $1,276 million decreased $1,639 million from $2,915 million during 2018 while cash decreased $1,743 million.
Net debt (calculated as total debt less cash and cash equivalents) increased $401 million primarily due to lower cash balances
partially offset by debt repayments.

The company believes that it has sufficient operating flexibility, cash reserves, and funding sources to maintain adequate
amounts of liquidity to meet its business needs around the world. At 31 December 2019, Linde's credit ratings as reported by
Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s were A-1 and P-1 for short-term debt, respectively, and A and A2 for long-term debt, respectively.

Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements includes information with respect to the company’s debt repayments
in 2019, current debt position, debt covenants and the available credit facilities; and Note 24 includes information relating to
derivative financial instruments. Linde's credit facilities are with major financial institutions and are non-cancelable until maturity.
Therefore, the company believes the risk of the financial institutions being unable to make required loans under the credit facilities,
if requested, to be low. Linde’s major bank credit and long-term debt agreements contain standard covenants. The company was in
compliance with these covenants at 31 December 2019 and expects to remain in compliance for the foreseeable future.

Linde’s total net financial debt outstanding (i.e. total financial debt less cash) was $11,157 million, $401 million higher
than $10,756 million at 31 December 31 2018. The 31 December 2019 net debt balance includes $12,762 million in public
securities, $1,185 million representing primarily worldwide bank borrowings, net of $2,790 million of cash. Linde’s global
effective borrowing rate was approximately 2% for 2019.

Following is a summary of notes that were repaid in 2019:
* In February 2019, Linde repaid $500 million of 1.90% rate notes that became due
+ In May 2019, Linde repaid $150 million of variable rate notes that became due
* InJune 2019, Linde repaid €500 million of 1.75% notes that due
* InJune 2019, Linde repaid AUD100 million of variable rate notes that became due
* In August 2019, Linde repaid $200 million of variable rate notes that became due.

On 26 March 2019, the company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an unsecured revolving credit agreement ("the
Credit Agreement") with a syndicate of banking institutions, which became effective on 29 March 2019. The Credit Agreement
provides for total commitments of $5.0 billion, which may be increased up to $6.5 billion, subject to receipt of additional
commitments and satisfaction of customary conditions. There are no financial maintenance covenants contained within the Credit
Agreement. The revolving credit facility expires on 26 March 2024 with the option to request two one-year extensions of the
expiration date. In connection with the effectiveness of the Credit Agreement, Praxair and Linde AG terminated their respective
existing revolving credit facilities. No borrowings were outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of 31 December 2019.

On 3 September 2019, Linde and the company’s subsidiaries Praxair and Linde AG entered into a series of parent and
subsidiary guarantees related to currently outstanding notes issued by Praxair and Linde AG as well as the $5 billion Credit
Agreement.

On 10 December 2018, the company announced a $1.0 billion share repurchase program, which was completed in

February of 2019. On 22 January 2019, the company’s board of directors approved the additional repurchase of $6.0 billion of its
ordinary shares, of which $2.3 billion had been repurchased through 31 December 2019.

Other cash activity

Other cash activity includes the effects of currency translation on cash and cash reported as part of assets held for sale.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Due to the size and geographic reach of the company’s operations, a wide range of factors, many of which are outside of the
company’s control, could materially affect the company’s future operations and financial performance. Management believes the following
risks may significantly impact the company:

The company may fail to realize the anticipated strategic and financial benefits sought from the business combination.

The company may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of the business combination between Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG, which
was completed on 31 October 2018. The success of the business combination will depend on, among other things, the company’s ability
to combine Praxair, Inc.’s and Linde AG’s businesses in a manner that facilitates growth and realizes the anticipated annual synergies
and cost reductions without adversely affecting current revenues and investments in future growth. The actual integration will continue
to involve complex operational, technological and personnel-related challenges. Difficulties in the integration of the businesses, which
may result in significant costs and delays, include:

*  managing a significantly larger combined group;

+ aligning and executing the strategy of the company;

* integrating and unifying the offerings and services available to customers and coordinating distribution and marketing
efforts in geographically separate organizations;

*  coordinating corporate and administrative infrastructures and aligning insurance coverage;

*  coordinating accounting, reporting, information technology, communications, administration and other systems;

» addressing possible differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies;

* the company being subject to Irish laws and regulations and legal action in Ireland;

»  coordinating the compliance program and uniform financial reporting, information technology and other standards,
controls, procedures and policies;

* the implementation, ultimate impact and outcome of post-completion reorganization transactions, which may be delayed;

+ unforeseen and unexpected liabilities related to the business combination or the combined businesses;

*  managing tax costs or inefficiencies associated with integrating operations;

* identifying and eliminating redundant and underperforming functions and assets; and

» effecting actions that may be required in connection with obtaining regulatory approvals.

These and other factors could result in increased costs and diversion of management’s time and energy, as well as decreases in the
amount of expected revenue and earnings. The integration process and other disruptions resulting from the business combination may
also adversely affect the company’s relationships with employees, suppliers, customers, distributors, licensors and others with whom
Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG have business or other dealings, and difficulties in integrating the businesses could harm the reputation of the
company.

If the company is not able to successfully integrate the businesses of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG in an efficient, cost-effective and
timely manner, the anticipated benefits and cost savings of the business combination may not be realized fully, or at all, or may take
longer to realize than expected.

The recent novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

The novel strain of the coronavirus identified in China in late 2019 has globally spread throughout other areas such as Asia, Europe,
the Middle East, and North America and has resulted in authorities implementing numerous measures to try to contain the virus, such
as travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter in place orders, and shutdowns. These measures have impacted and may further
impact our workforce and operations, the operations of our customers, vendors and suppliers. There is considerable uncertainty
regarding such measures and potential future measures, and restrictions on our access to our manufacturing facilities or on our support
operations or workforce, or similar limitations for our vendors and suppliers, and restrictions or disruptions of transportation, such as
reduced availability of air transport, port closures, and increased border controls or closures, could limit our capacity to meet customer
demand and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. These restrictions and disruptions could affect our
performance on our contracts. Resulting cost increases may not be fully recoverable or adequately covered by insurance, which could
impact our profitability.

Furthermore, COVID-19 has impacted and may further impact the broader economies of affected countries, including negatively
impacting economic growth, the proper functioning of financial and capital markets, foreign currency exchange rates, and interest
rates. Risks related to economic conditions are described in our Principal Risks and Uncertainties titled “Weakening economic
conditions in markets in which Linde does business may adversely impact its financial results and/or cash flows” and
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“Macroeconomic factors may impact Linde’s ability to obtain financing or increase the cost of obtaining financing which may
adversely impact Linde’s financial results and/or cash flows."

Weakening economic conditions in markets in which Linde does business may adversely impact its financial results and/or cash

flows.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries across more than 100 countries, which generally leads to financial stability through
various business cycles. However, a broad decline in general economic or business conditions in the industries served by its customers
could adversely affect the demand for Linde’s products and impair the ability of its customers to satisfy their obligations to Linde, resulting
in uncollected receivables and/or unanticipated contract terminations or project delays. For example, global political and economic
uncertainty could reduce investment activities of Linde’s customers, which could adversely affect Linde’s engineering project business.

In addition, many of Linde’s customers are in businesses that are cyclical in nature, such as the chemicals, electronics, metals and
energy industries. Downturns in these industries may adversely impact Linde during these cycles. Additionally, such conditions could
impact the utilization of Linde’s manufacturing capacity which may require it to recognize impairment losses on tangible assets such as
property, plant and equipment, as well as intangible assets such as goodwill, customer relationships or intellectual property.

Increases in the cost of energy and raw materials and/or disruption in the supply of these materials could result in lost sales or
reduced profitability.

Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and distribution of industrial gases. Most of Linde’s energy requirements
are in the form of electricity, natural gas and diesel fuel for distribution. Linde attempts to minimize the financial impact of variability
in these costs through the management of customer contracts and reducing demand through operational productivity and energy efficiency.
Large customer contracts typically have escalation and pass-through clauses to recover energy and feedstock costs. Such attempts may
not successfully mitigate cost variability, which could negatively impact Linde’s financial condition or results of operations. The supply
of energy has not been a significant issue in the geographic areas where Linde conducts business. However, regional energy conditions
are unpredictable and may pose future risk.

For carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, helium, hydrogen, specialty gases and surface technologies, raw materials are largely
purchased from outside sources. Where feasible, Linde sources several of these raw materials, including carbon dioxide, hydrogen and
calcium carbide, as chemical or industrial byproducts. In addition, Linde has contracts or commitments for, or readily available sources
of, most of these raw materials; however, their long-term availability and prices are subject to market conditions. A disruption in supply
of such raw materials could impact Linde’s ability to meet contractual supply commitments.

Linde’s international operations are subject to the risks of doing business abroad and international events and circumstances may
adversely impact its business, financial condition or results of operations.

Linde has substantial international operations which are subject to risks including devaluations in currency exchange rates,
transportation delays and interruptions, political and economic instability and disruptions, restrictions on the transfer of funds, trade
conflicts and the imposition of duties and tariffs, import and export controls, changes in governmental policies, labor unrest, possible
nationalization and/or expropriation of assets, domestic and international tax laws and compliance with governmental regulations. These
events could have an adverse effect on the international operations of Linde in the future by reducing the demand for its products,
decreasing the prices at which it can sell its products, reducing the revenue from international operations or otherwise having an adverse
effect on its business. For example, Linde has a meaningful presence in the U.K. and the U.K.’s ongoing exit process from the EU has
continued to cause, and may in the future cause, political and economic uncertainty, which could have an adverse impact on the markets
which Linde supplies.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations and other related risks may adversely affect Linde's results.

Because a significant portion of Linde's revenue is denominated in currencies other than its reporting currency, the U.S. dollar,
changes in exchange rates will produce fluctuations in revenue, costs and earnings and may also affect the book value of assets and
liabilities and related equity. Although the company from time to time utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge these exposures,
its efforts to minimize currency exposure through such hedging transactions may not be successful depending on market and business
conditions. As a result, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could adversely affect Linde’s financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.

Macroeconomic factors may impact Linde’s ability to obtain financing or increase the cost of obtaining financing which may
adversely impact Linde’s financial results and/or cash flows.

Volatility and disruption in the U.S., European and global credit and equity markets, from time to time, could make it more difficult
for Linde to obtain financing for its operations and/or could increase the cost of obtaining financing. In addition, Linde’s borrowing costs

17



can be affected by short- and long-term debt ratings assigned by independent rating agencies which are based, in significant part, on its
performance as measured by certain criteria such as interest coverage and leverage ratios. A decrease in these debt ratings could increase
the cost of borrowing or make it more difficult to obtain financing.

An impairment of goodwill or intangible assets could negatively impact the company's financial results.

As of 31 December 2019, the net carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets was $27 billion and $2
billion, respectively, primarily as a result of the business combination and the related acquisition method of accounting applied to Linde
AG. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the company periodically assesses these assets to determine if they
are impaired. Significant negative industry or economic trends, disruptions to business, unexpected significant changes or planned changes
in use of the assets, divestitures and sustained market capitalization declines may result in recognition of impairments to goodwill or
other indefinite-lived assets. Any charges relating to such impairments could have a material adverse impact on Linde's results of operations
in the periods recognized.

Catastrophic events could disrupt the operations of Linde and/or its customers and suppliers and may have a significant adverse
impact on the results of operations.

The occurrence of catastrophic events or natural disasters such as extreme weather, including hurricanes and floods; health epidemics;
health pandemics such as COVID-19; and acts of war or terrorism, could disrupt or delay Linde’s ability to produce and distribute its
products to customers and could potentially expose Linde to third-party liability claims. In addition, such events could impact Linde’s
customers and suppliers resulting in temporary or long-term outages and/or the limitation of supply of energy and other raw materials
used in normal business operations. Linde evaluates the direct and indirect business risks, consults with vendors, insurance providers and
industry experts, makes investments in suitably resilient design and technology, and conducts regular reviews of the business risks with
management. Despite these steps, however, these situations are outside Linde’s control and may have a significant adverse impact on its
financial results.

The inability to attract and retain qualified personnel may adversely impact Linde’s business.

If Linde fails to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, it may not be able to develop, market or sell its products or successfully
manage its business. Linde is dependent upon a highly skilled, experienced and efficient workforce to be successful. Much of Linde’s
competitive advantage is based on the expertise and experience of key personnel regarding marketing, technology, manufacturing and
distribution infrastructure, systems and products. The inability to attract and hire qualified individuals or the loss of key employees in
very skilled areas could have a negative effect on Linde’s financial results.

If Linde fails to keep pace with technological advances in the industry or if new technology initiatives do not become commercially
accepted, customers may not continue to buy Linde’s products and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Linde’s research and development is directed toward developing new and improved methods for the production and distribution
of industrial gases, the design and construction of plants and toward developing new markets and applications for the use of industrial
and process gases. This results in the introduction of new industrial gas applications and the development of new advanced air separation
process technologies. As a result of these efforts, Linde develops new and proprietary technologies and employs necessary measures to
protect such technologies within the global geographies in which Linde operates. These technologies help Linde to create a competitive
advantage and to provide a platform to grow its business. If Linde’s research and development activities do not keep pace with competitors
or if Linde does not create new technologies that benefit customers, future results of operations could be adversely affected.

Risks related to pension benefit plans may adversely impact Linde’s results of operations and cash flows.

Pension benefits represent significant financial obligations that will be ultimately settled in the future with employees who meet
eligibility requirements. Because of the uncertainties involved in estimating the timing and amount of future payments and asset returns,
significant estimates are required to calculate pension expense and liabilities related to Linde’s plans. Linde utilizes the services of
independent actuaries, whose models are used to facilitate these calculations. Several key assumptions are used in the actuarial models
to calculate pension expense and liability amounts recorded in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, significant changes in
actual investment returns on pension assets, discount rates, or legislative or regulatory changes could impact future results of operations
and required pension contributions.

Operational risks may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations.
Linde’s operating results are dependent on the continued operation of its production facilities and its ability to meet customer

contract requirements and other needs. Insufficient or excess capacity threatens Linde’s ability to generate competitive profit margins
and may expose Linde to liabilities related to contract commitments. Operating results are also dependent on Linde’s ability to complete
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new construction projects on time, on budget and in accordance with performance requirements. Failure to do so may expose Linde’s
business to loss of revenue, potential litigation and loss of business reputation.

Also inherent in the management of Linde’s production facilities and delivery systems, including storage, vehicle transportation
and pipelines, are operational risks that require continuous training, oversight and control. Material operating failures at production,
storage facilities or pipelines, including fire, toxic release and explosions, or the occurrence of vehicle transportation accidents could
result in loss of life, damage to the environment, loss of production and/or extensive property damage, all of which may negatively impact
Linde’s financial results.

Linde may be subject to information technology system failures, network disruptions and breaches in data security.

Linde relies on information technology systems and networks for business and operational activities, and also stores and processes
sensitive business and proprietary information in these systems and networks. These systems are susceptible to outages due to fire, flood,
power loss, telecommunications failures, viruses, break-ins and similar events, or breaches of security.

Linde has taken steps to address these risks and concerns by implementing advanced security technologies, internal controls, network
and data center resiliency and recovery process. Despite these steps, however, operational failures and breaches of security from
increasingly sophisticated cyber threats could lead to the loss or disclosure of confidential information, result in business interruption or
malfunction or regulatory actions and have a material adverse impact on Linde’s operations, reputation and financial results.

The inability to effectively integrate acquisitions or collaborate with joint venture partners could adversely impact Linde’s financial
position and results of operations.

In addition to the business combination, Linde has evaluated and expects to continue to evaluate, a wide array of potential strategic
acquisitions and joint ventures. Many of these transactions, if consummated, could be material to its financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, the process of integrating an acquired company, business or group of assets may create unforeseen operating
difficulties and expenditures. Although historically Linde has been successful with its acquisition strategy and execution, the areas where
Linde may face risks include:

*  the need to implement or remediate controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a larger public company at
companies that prior to the acquisition lacked these controls, procedures and policies;

» diversion of management time and focus from operating existing business to acquisition integration challenges;

»  cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into the existing organization;

» the need to integrate each company’s accounting, management information, human resources and other administrative
systems to permit effective management;

»  difficulty with the assimilation of acquired operations and products;

» failure to achieve targeted synergies and cost reductions; and

* inability to retain key employees and business relationships of acquired companies.

Foreign acquisitions and joint ventures involve unique risks in addition to those mentioned herein, including those related to
integration of operations across different cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular economic, political and regulatory risks
associated with specific countries.

Also, the anticipated benefit of potential future acquisitions may not materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions could result
in the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses, or impairments of goodwill, any of which could adversely impact
Linde’s financial results.

Linde is subject to a variety of international laws and government regulations and changes in, or failure to comply with, these laws
or regulations could have an adverse impact on the company’s business, financial position and results of operations.

Linde is subject to regulations in the following areas, among others:

* environmental protection, including climate change and energy efficiency laws and policies;

*  domestic and international tax laws and currency controls;

*  safety;

*  securities laws applicable in the United States, the European Union, Germany, Ireland, and other jurisdictions;
» trade and import/export restrictions, as well as economic sanctions laws;

e antitrust matters;

*  data protection;

»  global anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; and

*  healthcare regulations.
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Changes in these or other regulatory areas, such as evolving environmental legislation in China, may impact Linde’s profitability
and may give rise to new or increased compliance risks: it may become more complex and costly to ensure compliance, and the level of
sanctions in the event of non-compliance may rise. Such changes may also restrict Linde’s ability to compete effectively in the marketplace.
Noncompliance with such laws and regulations could result in penalties or sanctions, cancellation of marketing rights or restrictions on
participation in, or even exclusion from, public tender proceedings, all of which could have a material adverse impact on Linde’s financial
results and/or reputation.

Doing business globally requires Linde to comply with anti-corruption, trade, compliance and economic sanctions and similar laws,
and to implement policies and procedures designed to ensure that its employees and other intermediaries comply with the applicable
restrictions. These restrictions include prohibitions on the sale or supply of certain products, services and any other economic resources
to embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments, persons and entities. Compliance with these restrictions requires, among other things,
screening of business partners. Despite its commitment to legal compliance and corporate ethics, the company cannot ensure that its
policies and procedures will always protect it from intentional, reckless or negligent acts committed by employees or agents under the
applicable laws. If Linde fails to comply with laws governing the conduct of international operations, Linde may be subject to criminal
and civil penalties and other remedial measures, which could materially adversely affect its reputation, business and results of operations.

The outcome of litigation or governmental investigations may adversely impact the company’s business or results of operations.

Linde’s subsidiaries are party to various lawsuits and governmental investigations arising in the ordinary course of business. Adverse
outcomes in some or all of the claims pending may result in significant monetary damages or injunctive relief that could adversely affect
Linde’s ability to conduct business. Linde and its subsidiaries may in the future become subject to further claims and litigation, which is
impossible to predict. The litigation and other claims Linde faces are subject to inherent uncertainties. Legal or regulatory judgments or
agreed settlements might give rise to expenses which are not covered, or are not fully covered, by insurance benefits and may also lead
to negative publicity and reputational damage. An unfavorable outcome or determination could cause a material adverse impact on the
company’s results of operations.

Potential product defects or inadequate customer care may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations.

Risks associated with products and services may result in potential liability claims, the loss of customers or damage to Linde’s
reputation. Principal possible causes of risks associated with products and services are product defects or an inadequate level of customer
care when Linde is providing services.

Linde is exposed to legal risks relating to product liability in the countries where it operates, including countries such as the United
States, where legal risks (in particular through class actions) have historically been more significant than in other countries. The outcome
of any pending or future products and services proceedings or investigations cannot be predicted and legal or regulatory judgments or
agreed settlements may give rise to significant losses, costs and expenses.

The manufacturing and sale of products as well as the construction of plants by Linde may give rise to risks associated with the
production, filling, storage, handling and transport of raw materials, goods or waste. Industrial gases are potentially hazardous substances
and medical gases and the related healthcare services must comply with the relevant specifications in order to not adversely affect the
health of patients treated with them.

Linde’s products and services, if defective or not handled or performed appropriately, may lead to personal injuries, business
interruptions, environmental damages or other significant damages, which may result, among other consequences, in liability, losses,
monetary penalties or compensation payments, environmental clean-up costs or other costs and expenses, exclusion from certain market
sectors deemed important for future development of the business and loss of reputation. All these consequences could have a material
adverse effect on Linde’s business and results of operations.

U.S. civil liabilities may not be enforceable against Linde.

Linde is organized under the laws of Ireland and substantial portions of its assets will be located outside of the United States. In
addition, certain directors and officers of Linde and its subsidiaries reside outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for
investors to effect service of process within the United States upon Linde or such persons, or to enforce outside the United States judgments
obtained against such persons in U.S. courts in any action, including actions predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S.
federal securities laws. In addition, it may be difficult for investors to enforce, in original actions brought in courts in jurisdictions located
outside the United States, rights predicated upon the U.S. federal securities laws.

A judgment for the payment of money rendered by a court in the United States based on civil liability would not be automatically
enforceable in Ireland. There is no treaty between Ireland and the United States providing for the reciprocal enforcement of foreign
judgments. The following requirements must be met before the foreign judgment will be deemed to be enforceable in Ireland (i) the
judgment must be for a definite sum, (ii) the judgment must be final and conclusive; and (iii) the judgment must be provided by a court
of competent jurisdiction.
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An Irish court will also exercise its right to refuse judgment if the foreign judgment (i) was obtained by fraud; (ii) violated Irish
public policy; (iii) is in breach of natural justice; or (iv) if the judgment is irreconcilable with an earlier foreign judgment.

In addition, there is doubt as to whether an Irish court would accept jurisdiction and impose civil liability on Linde or such persons
in an original action predicated solely upon the U.S. federal securities laws brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in Ireland against
Linde or such member, officer or expert, respectively.

Changes in tax laws or policy could adversely impact the company’s financial position or results of operations.

Linde and its subsidiaries are subject to the tax rules and regulations in the U.S., Germany, Ireland, the U.K. and other countries
in which they operate. Those tax rules and regulations are subject to change on a prospective or retroactive basis. Under current economic
and political conditions, including the U.K.’s ongoing exit process from the EU, tax rates and policies in any jurisdiction, including the
U.S., the UK. and the EU, are subject to significant change. In particular,since Linde is currently treated as UK. tax resident, any potential
changes in the tax rules applying to U.K. tax-resident companies would directly affect Linde.

A change in Linde’s tax residency could have a negative effect on the company’s future profitability, and may trigger taxes on
dividends or exit charges. If Linde ceases to be resident in the United Kingdom and becomes resident in another jurisdiction, it may be
subject to United Kingdom exit charges, and/or could become liable for additional tax charges in the other jurisdiction. If Linde were to
be treated as resident in more than one jurisdiction, it could be subject to duplicative taxation. Furthermore, although Linde is incorporated
in Ireland and is not expected to be treated as a domestic corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it is possible that the IRS
could disagree with this result or that changes in U.S. federal income tax law could alter this result. If the IRS successfully asserted such
a position or the law were to change, significant adverse tax consequences may result for Linde, the company and Linde’s shareholders.

When tax rules change, this may result in a higher tax expense and the need to make higher tax payments. In addition, changes in
tax legislation may have a significant impact on Linde’s and its subsidiaries’ tax receivables and tax liabilities as well as on their deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities and uncertainty about the tax environment in some regions may restrict their opportunities to enforce
their respective rights under the law. Linde also operates in countries with complex tax regulations which could be interpreted in different
ways. Interpretations of these regulations or changes in the tax system might have an adverse impact on the tax liabilities, profitability
and business operations of Linde. Linde and its subsidiaries are subject to periodic audits by the tax authorities in various jurisdictions
or other review actions by the relevant financial or tax authorities. The ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in
Linde’s or its subsidiaries’ financial statements and may materially affect their respective financial results for the period when such
determination is made.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In its normal operations, Linde is exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates,
energy costs and to a lesser extent precious metal prices. The objective of financial risk management at Linde is to minimize the negative
impact of such fluctuations on the company’s earnings and cash flows. To manage these risks, among other strategies, Linde routinely
enters into various derivative financial instruments (“derivatives”) including interest-rate swap and treasury rate lock agreements, currency-
swap agreements, forward contracts, currency options, and commodity-swap agreements. These instruments are not entered into for
trading purposes and Linde only uses commonly traded and non-leveraged instruments. Counterparties to Linde’s derivatives are major
banking institutions with credit ratings of investment grade or better thereby minimizing the risk of credit loss. As of year-end, Linde
had existing Credit Support Annexes ("CSAs") in place with their principal counterparties to minimize potential default risk and to
mitigate counterparty risk. Under the CSAs, the fair values of derivatives for the purpose of interest rate and currency management are
collateralized with cash on a regular basis

There are three types of derivatives that the company enters into: (i) those relating to fair-value exposures, (ii) those relating to
cash-flow exposures, and (iii) those relating to foreign currency net investment exposures. Fair-value exposures relate to changes in the
fair value of recognized assets or liabilities, primarily financial assets and financial liabilities, and firm commitments. Cash-flow exposures
relate to the variability of future cash flows associated with recognized assets or liabilities, or forecasted transactions for which no
underlying exposure is yet reported in the consolidated statement of financial position. Net investment exposures relate to the impact of
foreign currency exchange rate changes on the carrying value of net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

Interest Rate Risk

At 31 December 2019, Linde had debt totaling $13,947 million ($15,289 million at 31 December 2018). For fixed-rate instruments,
interest rate changes affect the fair market value but do not impact earnings or cash flows. Conversely, for floating-rate instruments,
interest rate changes generally do not affect the fair market value of the instrument but impact future earnings and cash flows, assuming
that other factors are held constant. At 31 December 2019, including the impact of derivatives Linde had fixed-rate debt of $10,799
million and floating-rate debt of $3,157 million, representing 77% and 23%, respectively, of total debt. At 31 December 2018, Linde had
fixed-rate debt of $12,565 million and floating-rate debt of $2,731 million, representing 82% and 18%, respectively, of total debt.
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In order to mitigate interest rate risk, when considered appropriate interest-rate swaps are entered into as hedges of underlying
financial instruments to effectively change the characteristics of the interest rate without actually changing the underlying financial
instrument. At 31 December 2019, Linde had fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps outstanding that were designated as hedging instruments
of the underlying debt issuances - refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Foreign Currency Risk

Linde’s exchange-rate exposures result primarily from its investments and ongoing operations outside of the United States in the
Americas (primarily Brazil, Canada, and Mexico), EMEA (primarily Germany, the United Kingdom, Sweden and South Africa), Asia
South Pacific (primarily China, Australia, South Korea, Taiwan, India and Thailand) and other business transactions such as the
procurement of equipment from foreign sources. Linde frequently utilizes currency contracts to hedge these exposures. See Note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Further details of the financial risk management objectives and policies and the exposure of the company to price risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk and cash flow risk are provided in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Linde’s research and development is directed toward development of gas processing, separation and liquefaction technologies,
improving distribution of industrial gases and the development of new markets and applications for these gases. This results in the
development of new advanced air separation, hydrogen, synthesis gas, natural gas, adsorption and chemical process technologies as well
as the frequent introduction of new industrial gas applications. Research and development is primarily conducted at Pullach, Germany;
Tonawanda, New York, Burr Ridge, Illinois and Shanghai, China.

DIVIDENDS

On 26 February 2019, the directors of Linde plc declared an interim dividend of $0.875 per share for the first quarter of 2019 (the “Q1
Dividend”). The Q1 Dividend was payable on 22 March 2019 to shareholders of record on 8 March 2019.

On 30 April 2019, the directors of Linde plc declared an interim dividend of $0.875 per share for the second quarter of 2019 (the “Q2
Dividend”). The Q2 Dividend was payable on 17 June 2019 to shareholders of record on 3 June 2019.

On 26 July 2019, the directors of Linde plc declared an interim dividend of $0.875 per share for the third quarter of 2019 (the “Q3
Dividend”). The Q3 Dividend was payable on 17 September 2019 to shareholders of record on 3 September 2019.

On 24 October 2019, the directors of Linde plc declared an interim dividend of $0.875 per share for the fourth quarter of 2019 (the “Q4
Dividend”). The Q4 Dividend was payable on 17 December 2019 to shareholders of record on 03 December 2019.

For additional information, see Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The company’s business is to build, own, and operate industrial gas plants in order to supply atmospheric and process gases to
customers. As such, Linde believes that its sale of gas project backlog is one indicator of future sales growth. At 31 December 2019,
Linde’s sale of gas backlog of large projects under construction was $4.4 billion. This represents the total estimated capital cost of large
plants under construction. APAC and Americas represent 64 percent and 29 percent of the backlog, respectively, with the remaining
backlog in EMEA. These plants will primarily supply customers in the energy, chemical, and electronics end-markets.

Linde has been actively monitoring the COVID-19 situation and its impact globally. Our priority has been the health and safety of
our employees and the needs of our customers. The spread of COVID-19 has caused us to modify our business practices (including
employee travel, employee work locations, modification of critical supply chains and cancellation of physical participation in meetings
and events), and we may take further actions as may be required by government authorities or that we determine are in the best interests
of our employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders. The ultimate magnitude of COVID-19, including the extent of its impact
on the Company’s operational results, which could be material, will be determined by the length of time that such circumstances continue,
measures taken to prevent its spread, its effect on the supply chain and the demand for the Company’s products and services, as well as
the effect of governmental and public actions taken in response.
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The Company is committed to the safety and well-being of its employees and to ensuring that its facilities follow the highest
standards of safety and hygiene. At the same time, the Company and its employees remain committed to meeting the needs of
customers and ensuring they receive products and services in a timely manner.

The above outlook should be read in conjunction with the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Linde provides quarterly updates on operating results, material trends that may affect financial performance, and financial earnings
guidance via earnings releases and investor teleconferences. These materials are available on the company’s website, www.linde.com
but are not incorporated herein.

EVENTS SINCE THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE

Dividends

On 24 February 2020, the directors of Linde plc declared an interim dividend of $0.963 per share for the first quarter of 2020
(the “Q1 Dividend”). The Q1 Dividend was payable on 20 March 2020 to shareholders of record on 6 March 2020.

Own Shares

From the period 1 January 2020 through 31 March 2020, an additional 9,674 thousand ordinary shares were purchased by the
company for total consideration of $1.8 billion, or an average price of $185.98 per share.

Other Developments
The recent novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

Linde has been actively monitoring the COVID-19 situation and its impact globally. Our priority has been the safety of our
employees and the needs of our customers. The spread of COVID-19 has caused us to modify our business practices (including
employee travel, employee work locations, and cancellation of physical participation in meetings and events), and we may take
further actions as may be required by government authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees,
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders. The ultimate magnitude of COVID-19, including the extent of its impact on the
Company’s operational results, which could be material, will be determined by the length of time that such circumstances continue,
measures taken to prevent its spread, its effect on the supply chain and the demand for the Company’s products and services, as
well as the effect of governmental and public actions taken in response.

The Company is committed to the safety and well-being of its employees and to ensuring that its facilities follow the highest
standards of safety and hygiene. At the same time, the Company and its employees remain committed to meeting the needs of
customers and ensuring they receive products and services in a timely manner.

The Company continues to believe it has sufficient operating flexibility, cash, and funding sources to meet its business needs
around the world. The company has a $5 billion unsecured and undrawn revolving credit agreement with no associated financial
covenants. We do not anticipate any limitations on our ability to access the debt capital markets and/or other external funding
sources. The company continues to remain committed to its strong ratings from Moody's and Standard & Poor's.

OWN SHARES

On 22 January 2019, the company’s board of directors approved the repurchase of $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares ("2019
program") which could take place from time to time on the open market (and could include the use of 10b5-1 trading plans), subject to
market and business conditions. The 2019 program has a maximum repurchase amount of 15% of outstanding shares and a stated expiration
date of February 1, 2021.

As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, the company had treasury shares of 17,632 thousand and 4,069 thousand, respectively. During
the year ended 31 December 2019 14,333 thousand ordinary shares were purchased by the company for total considerations of $2.7
billion, or an average purchase price of $185.33 per share (€0.001 nominal value). The consideration includes stamp duty, commission
and all customary fees. These shares were acquired in order to reduce the shares outstanding or to meet obligations under Linde plc equity
awards. See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for more information.

All share purchases by the company are structured as redemptions under Irish law.
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POLITICAL DONATIONS
No political contributions that require disclosure under Irish law were made during fiscal years 2019 or 2018.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The measures that the directors have taken to secure compliance with the requirements of sections 281 to 285, with regard to the
keeping of accounting records, include the provision of appropriate resources to maintain adequate accounting records throughout the
company, including the appointment of personnel with appropriate qualifications, experience and expertise.

The company’s accounting records are maintained at The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, Surrey Research Park, Guildford,
Surrey GU2 7XY, United Kingdom.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES AND BRANCHES

Information regarding subsidiary undertakings, including information regarding branches, is provided in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Linde publishes non-financial indicators and qualitative information in its combined non-financial report in accordance with the
Irish implementation of the European Directives 2014/95/EU and 2013/34/EU as set out in the European Union (Disclosure of Non-
Financial and Diversity Information by certain large undertakings and groups) Regulations 2017, as amended (the “Irish Regulations™).
The combined non-financial report is incorporated by reference and forms part of the Directors' Report (and in the case of the Board
diversity report, is part of the Corporate Governance Statement) and can be found on pages 141 to 147.

The non-financial report includes reportable information on environmental matters; social and employee matters; respect for human
rights and combating bribery and corruption. The non-financial report also includes a Board diversity report as required by the Irish
Regulations. Reportable information includes policies, due diligence in implementing these policies and the outcomes of these actions,
risk identification and management, and key performance indicators.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Corporate Governance Practices

Linde plc is incorporated in Ireland, and is subject to Irish company law pursuant to the Irish Companies Act 2014 (the “Act”). In
addition, Linde plc ordinary shares are listed and trade on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange
(“FSE”). Linde plc’s primary governance obligations arise by virtue of its listing on NYSE, and as such, the company is subject to the
corporate governance rules of the NYSE, requiring it to adopt certain governance policies (which the company has complied with),
and to the reporting and other rules of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), requiring it to file Forms
10-K, 10-Q, 8-K and proxy statements.

A short summary of the key aspects of Linde plc’s corporate governance structure is set forth below.

Board and Governance Information

Size of Board 12 Annual Board and Committee Evaluations Yes
. Limits service on other Boards for Directors (4

Number of Independent Directors (excludes other Boards) Yes
CEO) 11 Limits service on other Boards for CEO (2 other

92% Boards) Yes

Split Chairman and CEO Yes Succession Planning Process Yes

Board Committees (Audit, Compensation, 4

Governance and Executive) Board Risk Oversight Yes

Code of Conduct for Directors, Officers and

Board Meetings 5 Employees Yes
. . Stock Ownership Guidelines for Directors and
Annual Election of Directors Yes Executive Officers Yes
Mandatory Retirement Age 72*  Anti-Hedging and Pledging Policies Yes
Koarq Diversity - 3 women, one African Yes  Clawback Policy Yes
merican

Majority Voting in Director Elections Yes Rights Agreement (Poison Pill) No
Proxy Access Yes Comprehensive Sustainability Program Yes

Shareholders May Call Special Meetings Yes

* Mandatory retirement age waived during the first three years following the completion of the business combination on 31 October 2018 (the “Integration Phase”) to
ensure continuity.

Internal Corporate Governance Framework

Linde plc is subject to its own internal corporate governance guidelines (the “Guidelines”), as adopted by the board of directors of Linde
plc (the “Board of Directors” or “Board”) at the effective time of the business combination, the current version of which is available at
https://www.linde.com/en/about-linde/corporate-governance. The Guidelines provide (among other things) that, during the Integration
Phase, certain matters require approval by two-thirds of the Board of Directors, including appointment and removal of a director as the
Chairman of the Board of Directors and appointment and removal of the Chief Executive Officer of Linde plc.

Internal Control and Risk Management Systems in Relation to the Financial Reporting Process

Linde maintains accounting systems, including internal accounting controls, monitored by a staff of internal auditors, that are designed
to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial records and the protection of assets. The concept of reasonable assurance
is based on recognition that the cost of a system should not exceed the related benefits. The effectiveness of those systems depends
primarily upon the careful selection of financial and other managers, clear delegation of authority and assignment of accountability,
inculcation ofhigh business ethics and conflict-of-interest standards, policies and procedures for coordinating the management of corporate
resources, and the leadership and commitment of top management.

25



The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists solely of non-employee directors, is responsible for overseeing the
functioning of the accounting system and related controls and the preparation of annual financial statements. The Audit Committee
periodically meets with management, internal auditors and the independent accountants to review and evaluate their accounting, auditing
and financial reporting activities and responsibilities, including management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting.
The external auditors and internal auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee and meet with the committee, with and
without management present. Details of the composition and operation of the Audit Committee are available at page 31 of this report.

Linde’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the company’s
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control
over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (often referred to as COSO). Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the
company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of 31 December 2019.

Linde AG was acquired in a merger accounted for as a business combination on 31 October 2018. In connection with its antitrust review
of the merger transaction, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission imposed a Hold Separate Order ("HSO") on Linde plc that was lifted on
1 March 2019 after all required asset divestitures in the U.S. were completed. The HSO required Praxair and Linde AG to continue to
operate globally as separate and independent companies apart from each other in all material respects. As such, the HSO regulatory
restrictions prohibited Linde plc from being able to perform procedures necessary to complete an overall assessment of Linde AG's
disparate internal control environment with operations in over 100 countries. Because of this, the assessment of Linde AG's internal
control environment could only begin after the HSO was terminated on 1 March 2019. Therefore, Linde’s evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting as of 31 December 2019 did not include the internal control over financial reporting related to Linde AG.
Information required under the European Communities (Takeover Bids (Directive 2004/ 25/EC)) Regulations 2006

As required by the Takeover Bids Regulations, the information contained below represents the position as at 31 December 2019.
Structure of the company § capital

The capital of the company is divided into ordinary shares, A ordinary shares, deferred shares and preferred shares.

As at 31 December 2019, there were 552,012,862 ordinary shares in issue. As at 31 December 2019, there were no A ordinary shares,
deferred shares or preferred shares in issue.

Further detail on the structure of the company’s capital is set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

Rights and Obligations attaching to the classes of shares

Ordinary shares
Dividend rights

Under Irish law, dividends are payable on the ordinary shares of the company only out of profits available for distribution. Subject to the
provisions of the Act, holders of the ordinary shares of the company are entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared by the
company by ordinary resolution, provided that the dividend cannot exceed the amount recommended by the Board of Directors. The
company may pay shareholders interim dividends if it appears to the Board of Directors that they are justified by the profits of the company
available for distribution. Any dividend which has remained unclaimed for twelve years from the date of its declaration may be forfeited
and cease to remain owing by the company.

Details of dividends declared by Linde plc are available at page 22 of this report.
Voting rights

At any general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting is decided on a poll. Every shareholder who is present in person or
by proxy has one vote for every ordinary share of €0.001 each.

The necessary quorum for a general meeting is two persons present in person or by proxy and having the right to attend and vote at the
meeting and together holding shares representing more than 50% of the votes that may be cast by all shareholders at the relevant time.
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All business is considered to be special business if it is transacted at an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM?”) as is all business transacted
at an annual general meeting (“AGM?”) other than the declaration of a dividend, the consideration of the company’s statutory financial
statements and reports of the Board of Directors and Auditors on those statements, the review by the shareholders of the company’s
affairs, the election of directors in the place of those retiring, the reappointment of the retiring Auditors (subject to sections 380 and 382
to 385 of the Act), the fixing of the remuneration of the Auditors and the consideration of a special resolution for the purpose of section
1102(2)(b) of the Act. Any business that is required to be dealt with by way of special resolution must be passed by not less than 75% of
the votes cast by such shareholders as, being entitled so to do, vote in person or by proxy at a general meeting at which not less than
twenty-one clear days’ notice specifying the text or substance of the proposed resolution has been duly given.

Any business that is required to be dealt with by way of ordinary resolution must be passed by a simple majority of the votes cast by the
shareholders as, being entitled to do so, vote in person or by proxy at a general meeting. Where an equal number of votes have been cast
on any resolution the Chairman of the meeting is not entitled to a second or casting vote.

An EGM (other than an EGM called for the passing of a special resolution, which must be called by not less than twenty-one clear days’
notice) may be called by not less than 14 clear days’ notice where:

(a) all shareholders, who hold shares that carry rights to vote at the meeting, are permitted to vote by electronic
means at the meeting; and
(b) aspecial resolution reducing the period of notice to fourteen days has been passed at the immediately preceding

AGM, or at a general meeting held since that meeting.
Liquidation rights

In the event of any surplus arising on the occasion of the liquidation of the company, the ordinary shareholders would be entitled to a
share in that surplus in proportion to the capital at the commencement of the liquidation paid up or credited as paid up on the ordinary
shares held by them respectively.

A Ordinary Shares and Deferred Shares

As at 31 December 2019, there were no A ordinary shares or deferred shares in issue. On incorporation, Linde plc issued 25,000 ordinary
shares to meet the minimum public limited company capitalization threshold required by Irish company law. These 25,000 ordinary shares
were subsequently converted into A ordinary shares and were later converted into deferred shares, acquired by the company for nil
consideration and cancelled.

The rights and obligations attaching to the A ordinary shares are the same as those attaching to the ordinary shares. The deferred shares
are non-voting shares and do not convey upon the holder the right to be paid a dividend or to receive notice of or to attend, vote or speak
at a general meeting. The deferred shares confer the right on a return of capital, on a winding-up or otherwise, only to the repayment of
the nominal value paid up on the deferred shares after repayment of the nominal value of the ordinary shares.

Preferred shares

As at 31 December 2019, there were no preferred shares in issue. Where authorized to issue unissued shares in the capital of the company
(including where relevant, by shareholder approval under section 1021 of the Act), and subject to the scope of any such authority, in
accordance with the company’s articles of association (the “Articles”), the Board of Directors are authorized to issue all or any of the
authorized but unissued preferred shares from time to time in one or more classes or series, and to fix for each such class or series such
voting power, full or limited or no voting power, and such designations, preferences or special rights and qualifications, limitations or
restrictions thereof in any resolution adopted by the Board of Directors providing for the issuance of such class or series of preferred
shares.

Variation of class rights
Whenever the share capital of the company is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class may be varied or
abrogated with the consent in writing of 75% in nominal value of the issued shares of that class, or with the sanction of a special resolution

passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares of that class.

Percentage of the company's capital represented by class of share
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The ordinary shares represent 95.89% of the authorized share capital and 100% of the issued share capital. The A ordinary shares represent
1.37% of the authorized share capital and 0% of the issued share capital. The deferred shares represent 1.37% of the authorized share
capital and 0% of the issued share capital. The preferred shares represent 1.37 % of the authorized share capital and 0% of the issued
share capital.

Restrictions on the transfer of shares in the company

There are no restrictions imposed by the company on the transfer of shares, nor are there any requirements to obtain the approval of the
company or other shareholders for a transfer of shares, save in certain limited circumstances set out in the Articles. A copy of the Articles
may be found on www.linde.com or may be obtained on request from the Company Secretary.

Rules of the company concerning the appointment and replacement of directors

Please see “Composition and Operation of Board of Directors and Committees of Board of Directors™ section at page 30 below.

Rules of the company concerning the amendment of the company s constitution

The company’s constitution may be amended by special resolution passed at an AGM or EGM. An AGM and an EGM called for the
passing of a special resolution shall be called by not less than twenty-one clear days’ notice. Special resolutions must be approved by not
less than 75% of the votes cast by such shareholders as, being entitled so to do, vote in person or by proxy. No business may be transacted
at any general meeting unless a quorum of shareholders is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business. The necessary
quorum for a general meeting is two persons present in person or by proxy and having the right to attend and vote at the meeting and
together holding shares representing more than 50% of the votes that may be cast by all shareholders at the relevant time.

Powers of the company s directors, including powers in relation to issuing or buying back by the company of its shares

Under its Articles, responsibility for the management of the business of the company has been delegated by the company’s shareholders
to the Board of Directors, who in turn exercise all powers of the company as are not, by the Articles, reserved for the company’s shareholders.
The Board of Directors has further delegated the management of the company to its committees, management and the Chief Executive
Officer.

The Board of Directors may exercise all the borrowing powers of the company and may give security in connection therewith. These
borrowing powers may be amended or restricted only by the shareholders in general meeting.

The shareholders of the company in general meeting may at any time and from time to time by resolution increase the share capital of
the company by such amount as they think proper. Whenever the share capital of the company is so increased, the Board of Directors
may, subject to various provisions of the Articles, issue shares to such amount not exceeding the amount of such enlargement as they
think proper. All ordinary shares so issued shall rank in equal priority with existing ordinary shares.

Subject to provisions of the Act, to any rights conferred on any class of shares in the company and to the Articles, the company may
purchase any of its shares of any class and may cancel any shares so purchased or hold such shares as treasury shares (the “treasury
shares”) with liberty to re-issue any such treasury shares in accordance with section 109 of the Act. The company shall not make market
purchases of its own shares unless such purchases shall have been authorized by an ordinary resolution of the company.

For purposes of Irish law, repurchases of shares in Linde plc may be effected by a redemption if the repurchased shares are redeemable
shares or are deemed to be redeemable shares by Linde plc’s constitution. Under Irish law, a company may issue redeemable shares and
redeem them out of distributable reserves or the proceeds of a new issue of shares for that purpose. All redeemable shares must also be
fully paid. Redeemable shares may, upon redemption, be cancelled or held in treasury. The Linde plc constitution provides that, unless
the Board of Directors determines otherwise, each Linde plc ordinary share shall be deemed to be a redeemable share on, and from the
time of, the existence or creation of an agreement, transaction or trade between Linde plc and any person pursuant to which Linde plc
acquires or will acquire Linde plc ordinary shares, or an interest in Linde plc ordinary shares, from the relevant person. Redeemable
shares of Linde plc shall have the same characteristics as any other Linde plc share save that they shall be redeemable in accordance with
the arrangement.

On 10 December 2018, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for up to $1.0 billion of its ordinary shares (the
“2018 Program”). Under this program, Linde may acquire up to 5% of its outstanding ordinary shares in the period from 10 December
2018 through 30 April 2019. The purpose of the program is to reduce the share capital or to meet obligations under Linde equity awards.
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On 21 January 2019, the Board of Directors authorized a further share repurchase program for up to $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares
(the “2019 Program”). Under the 2019 Program, Linde may acquire up to 15% of its outstanding ordinary shares in the period from 1
May 2019 (or the date following the announcement of the end of the 2018 Program, if earlier) through 1 February 2021. The purpose of
the 2019 Program is to reduce the share capital or to meet obligations under Linde equity awards.

Both the 2018 Program and the 2019 Program have been structured as redemptions for Irish law purposes and are being effected pursuant
to Article 9 of the Articles.

Severance and Change-in-Control Arrangements

The company provides severance benefits to eligible employees, including Executive Officers, consistent with the terms of its severance
programs and applicable local law. The company has not entered into any executive severance compensation agreements with its new
Executive Officers; however, in connection with the business combination, the company was required to assume severance agreements
for the legacy Praxair Executive Officers that provide double trigger benefits in the event that the legacy Praxair Executive Officer’s
employment with the company is terminated under certain circumstances prior to 31 October 2020.

Change-in-Control Arrangements

At the time of the business combination between Praxair and Linde AG, each legacy Praxair Executive Officer was party to a double-
trigger executive severance agreement with Praxair that provided certain protections in the event that the Executive Officer’s employment
was terminated by the company without “cause” or by the Executive Officer for “good reason,” in either case within the 24-month period
immediately following a “change-in-control” (the “Praxair Severance Agreements”). The business combination constituted a change-
in-control and upon the closing, the company assumed the Agreements. While the legacy Praxair Executive Officers continue to receive
the protections afforded under the Praxair Severance Agreements through 31 October 2020, the Praxair Severance Agreements were not
renewed at 31 December 2018 and no replacement severance agreements have been provided by the company to the Executive Officers.

The Praxair Severance Agreements were adopted many years prior to the business combination and were meant to:

+  provide temporary income following an involuntary termination of employment,
* encourage retention of executives for continuity of management, and
+  to keep executives focused on performing their duties in the event of a change-in-control transaction.

The terms of the Praxair Severance Agreements include:

*  "Double trigger” is required for payments: The change-in-control must be followed by the termination of the Executive Officer’s
employment within the following two years either by the company other than for cause or by executive with “good reason”

+  No “tax gross-ups” for excise taxes

* Asacondition of entering into the agreements, each Executive Officer was required to enter into a Nondisclosure, Nonsolicitation
and Noncompetition Agreement under which the Executive Officer agrees not to:

+ Disclose company confidential information both during and after termination of his or her employment with the company

*  Solicit the company’s customers and employees for a period of two years following the Executive Officer’s termination of
employment with the company for any reason

+ Engage in any activities that compete with those of the company for a period of two years following the Executive Officer’s
termination of employment

Upon the occurrence of the “double trigger,” the Severance Agreements generally provide the affected Executive Officer with:

+ accrued salary, variable compensation, and benefits,

* enhanced life, accident, health insurance and pension benefits, and

* a lump sum severance payment equal to two times the sum of his or her annual salary and target performance-based variable
compensation award (three times for executives who became officers of the Praxair, Inc. prior to 2010).

Significant agreements relating to a change of control subsequent to a takeover bid
In the financial years 2007 to 2017, Linde AG issued benchmark bonds under its €10 billion debt issuance programme, either itself or
via Linde Finance B. V., a Dutch subsidiary of Linde plc. Under the terms and conditions of the bond issuances, in the event of a change

of control of the company, the bond creditor may demand immediate repayment if such change of control leads to the withdrawal of the
credit rating or to a reduction in the rating to or below certain credit rating levels for unsubordinated unsecured liabilities.
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There are other significant financing agreements in place with the company / certain subsidiary companies, each of which includes specific
rules that apply in the event of a change in control of the company. In particular, these rules provide for a duty on the part of the company /
the relevant subsidiary to provide information to the contracting party, and also provide for cancellation rights for the contracting party.

There are customer contracts in place with the company/certain subsidiary companies, containing clauses granting the customer special
cancellation rights in the event of a change of control of the company. In the event that these special cancellation rights are exercised,
the contracts provide for appropriate compensation in favor of the customer.

Under the terms and conditions of the 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”), which was assumed by the company
pursuant to the business combination, in the event of a change of control of the company, special rules may be adopted. Those special
rules provide, in the event of a change of control of the company, that cancellation rights apply, which means that option/matching shares
rights may be settled in cash in an amount to be determined in accordance with the 2009 Plan.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The company operates under the Act. The Act provides for two types of shareholder meetings: the AGM with all other general meetings
being called an EGM.

The company must hold a general meeting each year as its AGM, in addition to any other general meetings held in that year. Not more
than 15 months may elapse between the date of one AGM and the next. EGMs can also be convened at the request of shareholders holding
not less than 5% of the voting share capital of the company. The notice period for an AGM and an EGM to consider any special resolution
(a resolution which requires a 75% majority vote, not a simple majority) is 21 clear days.

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business.
Two shareholders present in person or by proxy and having the right to attend and vote at the meeting and together holding shares
representing more than 50% of the votes that may be cast by all shareholders at the relevant time shall be a quorum. Only those shareholders
registered on the company’s register of shareholders at the prescribed record date, being a date not more than 48 hours before the general
meeting to which it relates, are entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting.

Under the Act, ordinary resolutions may be passed by a majority of votes cast in favor, while special resolutions require a 75% majority
of votes cast in favor. Any shareholder who is entitled to attend, speak and vote at a general meeting is entitled to appoint one or more
proxies to attend, speak and vote on his or her behalf. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. All resolutions are determined
by a poll.

As further described on page 28, the management of the business of the company has been delegated by company’s shareholders to the
Board of Directors, who may exercise all the powers of the company save for those reserved to shareholders. Matters reserved to
shareholders in general meetings include the election of directors, the declaration of final dividends on the recommendation of the directors,
the fixing of the remuneration of the external auditor, amendments to the Articles, measures to increase or reduce the ordinary share
capital and the authority to issue shares.

The information required to be provided to shareholders in accordance with sections 1099 to 1110 of the Act is available on the company’s
website (www.linde.com).

Composition and Operation of Board of Directors and Committees of Board of Directors

Board of Directors

Linde plc has twelve directors, six of whom are former Praxair directors (“Praxair Class Directors”), including Steve Angel who is also
the CEQ, and six of whom are former Linde AG Supervisory Board members (“Linde Class Directors™), including Wolfgang Reitzle,
who is the Chairman of the Board.

Under the Linde plc constitution, directors retire at each AGM and may be re-elected by shareholders at that meeting.
Until the third anniversary of the completion of the business combination, the Board shall nominate each of the Linde Class Directors
and Praxair Class Directors (or his or her replacement) for re-election to the Board at each of Linde plc’s AGMs as required to ensure

that the Linde Class Directors and Praxair Class Directors (or his or her replacement) serve on the Board for the duration of the three
years following the completion of the business combination.
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Until the third anniversary of the completion of the business combination, any vacancy on the Board created by the cessation of service
of a Praxair Class Director prior to the end of his or her term will be filled by the unanimous vote of the remaining members of the Board;
provided that if the vacancy is not filled by the Board within three months, the vacancy may be filled by an individual nominated and
appointed by a majority of the remaining Praxair Class Directors. Until the third anniversary of the completion of the business combination,
any vacancy on the Board created by the cessation of service of a Linde Class Director prior to the end of his or her term will be filled
by the unanimous vote of the remaining members of the Board; provided that if the vacancy is not filled by the Board within three months,
the vacancy may be filled by an individual nominated and appointed by a majority of the remaining Linde Class Directors.

Linde’s constitution also provides that a shareholder, or a group of up to 20 shareholders, who have owned at least 3% of the company’s
outstanding ordinary shares continually for at least three years, may nominate persons for election as directors and have these nominees
included in the company’s proxy statement. The shareholders or group must meet the requirements in the company’s constitution. The
number of nominees is limited to the greater of two persons or 20% of the number of directors serving on the Board.

The Board of Directors operates subject to both the Guidelines and the company’s constitution, copies of which are available at https://
www.linde.com/en/about-linde/corporate-governance.

The directors of the company during the financial year are listed in the table below.

Directors Appointment Date
Current Directors

Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Reitzle 22 October 2018
Mr. Stephen F. Angel 22 October 2018
Prof. Dr. Ann-Kristin Achleitner 22 October 2018
Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig 22 October 2018
Dr. Nance Dicciani 22 October 2018
Dr. Thomas Enders 22 October 2018
Mr. Franz Fehrenbach 22 October 2018
Mr. Edward Galante 22 October 2018
Mr. Larry McVay 22 October 2018
Dr. Victoria Ossadnik 22 October 2018
Prof. Dr. Martin H. Richenhagen 22 October 2018

Mr. Robert Wood

Committees of Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has four committees: Audit, Compensation, Nomination & Governance and Executive Committees which each

consist of six directors.

Audit Committee

Committee Chair:
*  Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig

Current Members:
¢ Dr. Nance K. Dicciani
¢ Dr. Thomas Enders
e Edward G. Galante
* Larry D. McVay
¢ Dr. Victoria Ossadnik

Meetings in 2019: 9

22 October 2018



The Audit Committee assists the Board in its oversight of (a) the independence, qualifications and performance of Linde’s independent
auditor, (b) the integrity of Linde’s financial statements, (c) the performance of Linde’s internal audit function, and (d) Linde’s compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements. In furtherance of these responsibilities, the Audit Committee, among other duties,

(1) appoints the independent auditor to audit Linde’s financial statements, approves the fees and terms of such engagement, approves
any non-audit engagements of the independent auditor, and meets regularly with, and receives various reports from, the independent
auditor. The independent auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee;

(2) reviews Linde’s principal policies for accounting and financial reporting and its disclosure controls and processes, and reviews with
management and the independent auditor Linde’s financial statements prior to their publication;

(3) reviews assessments of Linde’s internal controls, the performance of the Internal Audit function, the performance evaluations of the
General Auditor and the Chief Compliance Officer, and the guidelines and policies by which Linde undertakes risk assessment and
risk management; and

(4) reviews the effectiveness of Linde’s compliance with laws, business conduct, integrity and ethics programs.

Compensation Committee

Committee Chair:
. Edward G. Galante

Current Members:

. Prof. Dr. Ann-Kristin Achleitner
. Dr. Nance K. Dicciani

. Franz Fehrenbach

. Dr. Victoria Ossadnik

. Prof. Dr. Martin H. Richenhagen

Meetings in 2019: 4

The Compensation Committee assists the Board in its oversight of (a) Linde’s compensation and incentive policies and programs, and
(b) management development and succession, in both cases particularly as they apply to Linde’s executive officers. In furtherance of
these responsibilities, the Compensation Committee, among other duties,

(1) determines Linde’s policies relating to the compensation of executive officers and assesses the competitiveness and appropriateness
of their compensation and benefits;

(2) determines the salaries, performance-based variable compensation, equity awards, terms of employment, retirement or severance,
benefits, and perquisites of executive officers;

(3) establishes the corporate goals relevent to the CEO's compensation, evaluates the CEO's performance in light of these goals and
sets the CEO's compensation accordingly;

(4) reviews management’s long-range planning for executive development and succession, and develops a CEO succession plan;

(5) reviews design, administration and risk associated with Linde’s management incentive compensation and equity compensation plans;
and

(6) reviews periodically the company’s diversity policies and objectives, and programs to achieve those objectives.

Executive Committee

Committee Chair:
. Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Reitzle

Current Members:

. Stephen F. Angel
. Dr. Thomas Enders
. Robert L. Wood

32



Meetings in 2019: 1

The purpose of the Executive Committee is primarily to act on behalf of the entire Board with respect to certain matters that may arise

in between regularly scheduled Board meetings, and act on certain other matters from time to time. In particular, the Executive Committee

duties include, among others:

(1) evaluating and approving any investments, acquisitions, partnerships or divestments requiring Board approval, that are within value
thresholds specified by the Board;

(2) evaluating and approving any financing or other capital markets transactions requiring Board approval, that are within value thresholds
specified by the Board; and

(3) acting upon any other such matters within the competencies of the Board, that are not reserved solely to the Board, that are
within value thresholds specified by the Board and, in the opinion of the Chairman of the Board, should not be postponed until
the next regularly scheduled Board meeting.

Nomination and Governance Committee

Committee Chair:
. Robert L. Wood

Current Members:

. Prof. Dr. Ann-Kristin Achleitner
. Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig

. Franz Fehrenbach

. Larry D. McVay

. Prof. Dr. Martin H. Richenhagen

Meetings in 2019: 4

The Nomination and Governance Committee assists the Board in its oversight of (a) the selection, qualifications, compensation and
performance of Linde’s directors, (b) Linde’s governance, including the practices and effectiveness of the Board, and (c) various important
public policy concerns that affect the company. In furtherance of these responsibilities, the Nomination and Governance Committee,
among other duties,

(1) recommends to the Board nominees for election as directors, and periodically reviews potential candidates, including incumbent
directors;

(2) reviews policies with respect to the composition, compensation, organization and practices of the Board, and developments in
corporate governance matters generally; and

(3) reviews Linde’s policies and responses to broad public policy issues such as social responsibility, corporate citizenship, charitable
contributions, legislative issues, and important shareholder issues, including management and shareholder proposals offered for
shareholder approval.

DIRECTORS’ AND COMPANY SECRETARY'S INTERESTS

No director, the company secretary or any member of their immediate families had any interest in shares or debentures of any
subsidiary. Directors’ remuneration is set forth in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. The interests of the directors and
secretary of the company in office as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 in the ordinary share capital of Linde plc as of 31 December 2019
and 2018, as required to be stated pursuant to section 329 of the Act, are presented in the table below.
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At 31 December 2019 At 31 December 2018

Ordinary Ordinary

Directors Shares Options Shares Options
Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Reitzle 16,077 — 16,077 —
Mr. Stephen F. Angel 444781 2,000,610 443,499 1,529,558
Prof. Dr. Ann-Kristin Achleitner 979 — 979 —
Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig 979 — 979 —
Dr. Nance Dicciani 17,786 — 17,672 —
Dr. Thomas Enders 6,600 — — —
Mr. Franz Fehrenbach 979 — 979 —
Mr. Edward Galante 13,229 — 13,229 —
Mr. Larry McVay 11,364 — 11,254 —
Dr. Victoria Ossadnik — — — —
Mr. Martin Richenhagen 4,114 — 4,114 —
Mr. Robert Wood 13,896 — 13,844 —
Secretary

Susan Kelly — — — —
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DIRECTORS' COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

As required by section 225(2) of the Act, the directors acknowledge that they are responsible for securing the company’s compliance
with its relevant obligations (as defined in section 225(1)). The directors further confirm that a “compliance policy statement” (as defined
in section 225(3)(a)) has been drawn up, that appropriate arrangements and structures that are, in the directors’ opinion, designed to secure
material compliance with the relevant obligations have been put in place and that a review of those arrangements and structures has been
conducted in the financial year to which this report relates.

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURES TO AUDITORS

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit information, being
information needed by the auditor in connection with preparing its report, of which the auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of
fellow directors and the company's auditor, each director has taken all the steps that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order to
made himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report and the financial statements in accordance with Irish law.

Irish law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year that gives a true and fair view of the company’s
assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year and of the profit and loss of the company for the financial year.
Under that law, the Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) and with those parts of the Act applicable to companies applying IFRS and the
Parent Company financial statements in accordance Irish Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (accounting standards issued by the
UK Financial Reporting Council, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland and Irish law).

Under Irish law, the directors shall not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year and the profit and loss of the company for the financial
year.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

*  make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

»  state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and identify the
standards in question, subject to any material departures from those standards being disclosed and explained in the notes to the
financial statements; and

»  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue
in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to:
»  correctly record and explain the transactions of the company;
*  enable, at any time, the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of the company to be determined with reasonable
accuracy; and
*  enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act and enable those financial statements
to be audited.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s

website. Legislation in Ireland governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.
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Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 30 April 2020 by:

/S%gel // /s/ Erof. |;r zilemens Borsig

Stephen F. Angel Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig

Chief Executive Officer and Director Director
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Linde plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

* Linde plc’s consolidated financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial statements™) give a true and fair view
of the group’s and the company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of the group’s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended;

* the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union;

*  the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland
(accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” and Irish law); and

* the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014 and, as regards
the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Director’s Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual Report™), which comprise:

*  the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;

* the company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;

* the consolidated statement of profit and loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

* the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

* the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

*  the company statement of changes in equity of Linde plc for the year then ended; and

*  the notes to the consolidated financial statements and the notes to the company financial statements, which include a description of the
significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (“ISAs (Ireland)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under ISAs (Ireland) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Ireland,
which includes IAASA’s Ethical Standard as applicable to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by IAASA’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the group
or the parent company.

Other than those disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the group or the parent company in the
period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.
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Our audit approach

Overview

Materiality

- $185 million (2018: $119 million) - Consolidated financial statements

- Based on circa 2.3% of EBITDA (2018: Circa 5% of profit before tax from continuing
operations adjusted for non-recurring items relating to the gain on the divestiture of
businesses, merger related inventory step up and initial transaction costs).

- $420 million (2018: $443 million) - Company financial statements

- Based on circa 0.5% of net assets.

Audit scope
Materiality
- We conducted full scope audits of thirty two of the group’s largest reporting
components.
- Specified audit procedures were performed at nine additional components.
i - Additionally, certain other activities controlled and managed centrally such as
AR acquisitions and disposals, intangible asset and goodwill accounting and impairment
testing, financing and treasury, legal and certain elements of income taxes were subject to
full scope audit procedures.
- Overall, we obtained coverage of circa 68% of group net revenues, circa 85% of total
Key audit assets and circa 82% of total liabilities.
matilers

Key audit matters

- Goodwill Impairment Assessment
- Revenue Recognition - Estimated Costs at Completion

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we
looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of
internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of
the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors,
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a
complete list of all risks identified by our audit.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill Impairment Assessment

Refer to Note 6 - “Accounting Policies” and Note 12 -
“Goodwill/other intangible assets”

As described in Notes 6 and 12 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance was
$27,148 million as of 31 December 2019. Management performs
an impairment test annually or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been
incurred. In estimating the recoverable amount of each cash
generating unit, management applied a multiple of earnings from
a peer group to the market participant forecasted earnings for the
year ending 31 December 2019. The peer group comprised of
comparable entities with similar operations and economic
characteristics.

We determined that the goodwill impairment assessment is a key
audit matter because there is significant judgment exercised by
management relating to the significant assumption for the
multiples of earnings for a peer group of comparable entities with
similar operations and economic characteristics.

We evaluated and tested the Company’s key internal controls over
financial reporting related to the recoverable amount
determination of cash generating units, including controls over
key assumptions used in the valuation model.

We obtained the impairment analyses prepared by management
including the recoverable amount calculations of the cash
generating units, and assessed the reasonableness of each
significant assumption, which includes the multiples of earnings
from a peer group of comparable entities with similar operations
and economic characteristics. We did this by comparing the
multiple of earnings from a peer group of comparable entities to
external market and industry data.

We evaluated with the assistance of PwC experts with specialized
skill and knowledge the appropriateness of the multiples of
earnings model used by management. We also tested the
completeness, accuracy, and relevance of underlying data used in
the model.

Revenue Recognition - Estimated Costs at Completion

Refer to Note 6 - “Accounting Policies” and Note 7 -
“Revenue”

As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements,
$2,790 million of the Company’s total revenues for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was generated from sale of equipment
contracts. Revenue from sale of equipment is generally
recognized over time as the Company has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date and performance
does not create an asset with alternative use.

For contracts recognized over time, revenue is recognized
primarily using a cost incurred input method. Costs incurred to
date relative to total estimated costs at completion are used to
measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations.
Costs incurred include material, labour, and overhead costs and
represent work contributing and proportionate to the transfer of
control to the customer.

Management's estimation of costs at completion is complex and
requires significant judgment.

We determined revenue recognition - estimated costs at
completion to be a key audit matter as significant judgment was
exercised by management when developing the estimated costs at
completion for the sale of equipment contracts including
significant assumptions related to estimated material and labour
costs.

We tested management’s process for developing the estimated
costs at completion for the sale of equipment contracts, and
evaluated the reasonableness of management’s significant
assumptions, including the estimated expected material and
labour costs.

Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s significant
assumptions involved evaluating management’s ability to
reasonably estimate costs at completion for the sale of equipment
contracts on a sample basis by (i) performing a comparison of the
originally estimated and actual costs incurred on similar
completed equipment contracts, and (ii) evaluating the timely
identification of circumstances that may warrant a modification to
estimated costs at completion, including actual costs in excess of
estimates.

Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to
assist in evaluating management’s estimates and assumptions
relating to the expected material and labour costs.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a whole,
taking into account the structure of the group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the group operates.

The group is structured along four operating segments, Americas, EMEA, APAC and Engineering.
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Certain other activities are controlled and managed centrally from Corporate within the consolidated group such as acquisitions and disposals,
intangible asset and goodwill accounting and impairment testing, financing and treasury, legal and certain elements of income taxes.

In determining our audit scope we first focused on individual reporting components and determined the type of work that needed to be performed at
the reporting components by us, as the Irish group engagement team, PwC US as the US component team, or other component auditors within other
PwC network firms and other non PwC firms. Where the work was performed by PwC US and other component auditors, we determined the level of
involvement we needed to have in the audit work of those reporting components to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence
had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall, through the thirty two full scope audits of the group’s reporting components selected based on our risk assessment and their financial
significance to the Group, specified procedures performed at nine components and work performed on central activities, we obtained coverage of
circa 68% of group net revenues, circa 85% of total assets and circa 82% of total liabilities. We allocated materiality levels and issued instructions to
each component auditor. In addition to the audit report from each of the component auditors, we received detailed memoranda of examinations on
work performed and relevant findings which supplemented our understanding of the component, its results and the audit findings and we participated
in certain local audit closing meetings. This, together with additional procedures performed at the group level, gave us evidence we needed for our
opinion on the financial statements as a whole.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together with
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual
financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial
statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Consolidated financial statements Company financial statements
Overall materiality $185 million (2018: $119 million). $420 million (2018: $443 million).
How we determined it Circa 2.3% of EBITDA. (2018: Circa 5% of Circa 0.5% of net assets.

profit before tax from continuing operations
adjusted for non-recurring items relating to the
gain on the divestiture of businesses, merger
related inventory step up and initial transaction

costs)
Rationale for benchmark The engagement team believes EBITDA is the The entity is a holding company whose main
applied most appropriate measure reflecting the activity is the management of investments in
underlying operations of the group. subsidiaries.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above $15 million (group audit) (2018:
$10 million) and $15 million (company audit) (2018: $10 million) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting
for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (Ireland) require us to report to you where:

* the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
* the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about
the group’s or the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s or the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The
directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we
do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude
whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report based on these responsibilities.
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With respect to the Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the Companies Act 2014 (excluding the information
included in the “Non Financial Statement” as defined by that Act on which we are not required to report) have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (Ireland) and the Companies Act 2014 require
us to also report certain opinions and matters as described below:

Director’s Report

*  In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Directors’ Report (excluding the
information included in the “Non Financial Statement” on which we are not required to report) for the year ended 31 December 2019
is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.

*  Based on our knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we
have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors’ Report (excluding the information included in the “Non Financial
Statement” on which we are not required to report).

Corporate Governance Statement

*  In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements,

- the description of the main features of the internal control and risk management systems in relation to the financial reporting
process; and

- the information required by Section 1373(2)(d) of the Companies Act 2014; included in the Corporate Governance Statement, is
consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with section 1373(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

*  Based on our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit of the financial
statements, we have not identified material misstatements in the description of the main features of the internal control and risk
management systems in relation to the financial reporting process and the information required by section 1373(2)(d) of the
Companies Act 2014 included in the Corporate Governance Statement.

*  In our opinion, based on the work undertaken during the course of the audit of the financial statements, the information required by
section 1373(2)(a),(b),(e) and (f) of the Companies Act 2014 and regulation 6 of the European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial and
Diversity Information by certain large undertakings and groups) Regulations 2017 is contained in the Corporate Governance
Statement.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in
accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA website at:

https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf

This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with section 391 of the
Companies Act 2014 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2014 opinions on other matters

*  We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.

*  In our opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the company financial statements to be readily and
properly audited.

*  The company balance sheet is in agreement with the accounting records.

Other exception reporting
Directors’ remuneration and transactions

Under the Companies Act 2014 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions
specified by sections 305 to 312 of that Act have not been made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Prior financial year Non Financial Statement

We are required to report if the company has not provided the information required by Regulation 5(2) to 5(7) of the European Union (Disclosure of
Non-Financial and Diversity Information by certain large undertakings and groups) Regulations 2017 in respect of the prior financial year. We have
nothing to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

We were appointed by the directors on 17 October 2018 to audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 and subsequent
financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 2 years, covering the years ended 31 December 2018 to 31 December 2019.

/s/ Alisa Hayden

Alisa Hayden

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin

30 April 2020

¢ The maintenance and integrity of the Linde plc website is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not
involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the
financial statements since they were initially presented on the website.

¢ Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT AND LOSS

For The Years Ended 31 December

(Millions of dollars) Note 2019 2018
Revenue [7] $ 28,758 $ 14,973
Cost of sales 20,869 10,626
GROSS PROFIT $ 7,889 $ 4,347
Marketing and selling expenses 2,201 936
Research and development costs 254 139
Administration expenses 2,448 1,274
Impairment losses on receivables and contract assets [24] 170 25
Net gain on divestiture of businesses [3] 164 3,778
Other operating income [8] 330 109
Other operating expenses [8] 260 150
OPERATING PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS $ 3,050 $ 5,710
Financial income [9] 91 120
Financial expenses [9] 199 368
Share of profit and loss from associates and joint ventures (at equity) [14] 63 54
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS $ 3,005 $ 5,516
Income tax expense [10] 812 811
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS $ 2,193 $ 4,705
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS, NET OF TAX $ 94 $ 98
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR $ 2,287 $ 4,803
attributable to Linde plc shareholders W W
attributable to noncontrolling interests of continuing operations 132 20
attributable to noncontrolling interests of discontinued operations 7 8
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR - LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS
Income from continuing operations $ 2,061 $§ 4,685
Income from discontinued operations $ 87  $ 90

EARNINGS PER SHARE — CONTINUING OPERATIONS

LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS [11]
Earnings per share in USD — undiluted $ 381 $ 14.18
Earnings per share in USD — diluted $ 378 $ 14.02
EARNINGS PER SHARE - LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS [11]
Earnings per share in USD — undiluted $ 397 § 1445
Earnings per share in USD — diluted $ 394 § 1429
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended 31 December

(Millions of dollars)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
ITEMS THAT WILL BE RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO PROFIT

AND LOSS

Currency translation adjustments
Foreign currency translation adjustments

Reclassifications to net income

Income taxes

Currency translation adjustments

Derivative instruments

Current year unrealized gain (loss)

Reclassifications to net income

Income taxes

Derivative instruments

Securities

Current year unrealized gain (loss)

Reclassifications to net income

Income taxes

Securities

ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO

PROFIT AND LOSS

Funded status - retirement obligation remeasurement

Income Taxes

Funded status - retirement obligations
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING

INTERESTS)

Less: noncontrolling interests

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - LINDE PLC
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2019 2018
§ 2287 § 4,803

92 (420)

12 (166)

3 (5)

107 (591)
(32) —

— (1)

7 _
(25) (1)

1 (1)

1 (1)
(574) 1)
117 37
(457) (54)
(374) (647)

§ 1913 § 4,156
(50) (62)

$§ 1863 § 4,094



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Millions of dollars) Note 31/12/2019  31/12/2018
Assets

Goodwill [12] S 27,148 § 26,738
Other intangible assets [12] 16,818 17,281
Tangible assets [13] 29,689 30,693
Right of use assets [21] 1,168 —
Investments in associates and joint ventures (at equity) [14] 1,008 980
Other financial assets [14] 100 87
Receivables from leases [16] 55 52
Trade receivables [16] 3 7
Miscellaneous other receivables and other assets [16] 595 777
Deferred tax assets [10] 251 517
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 76,835 77,132
Inventories [15] 1,710 1,658
Receivables from finance leases [16] 17 23
Trade receivables [16] 4,122 4,104
Contract Assets [7, 16] 369 267
Miscellaneous other receivables and other assets [16] 1,194 1,024
Income tax receivables [16] 108 172
Cash and cash equivalents [24] 2,790 4,533
Non-current assets classified as held for sale [3] 320 5,670
CURRENT ASSETS $ 10,630 $§ 17,451
TOTAL ASSETS $ 87,465 $ 94,583
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(Millions of dollars) Note 31/12/2019  31/12/2018

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Called-up share capital presented as equity [17] $ 1 $ 1
Share premium [17] — —
Retained earnings [17] 52,249 52,448
Treasury shares [17] (3,156) (629)
Other reserves [17] 105 (125)
TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO LINDE PLC
SHAREHOLDERS $ 49,199 § 51,695
Noncontrolling interests [17] 2,942 6,094
TOTAL EQUITY $ 52,141 § 57,789
Long-term pensions and similar obligations [18] 2,549 2,007
Other non-current provisions [19] 562 535
Deferred tax liabilities [10] 6,993 7,726
Financial liabilities [20] 10,622 12,276
Liabilities from leases [21] 840 59
Trade payables [22] 1 1
Contract liabilities [7,22] 359 154
Income tax liabilities [22] 236 266
Other non-current liabilities [22] 403 433
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES $ 22565 $ 23,457
Current pensions and similar obligations [18] 27 104
Current provisions [19] 567 452
Financial liabilities [20] 3,325 3,013
Liabilities from leases [21] 290 19
Trade payables [22] 4,079 4,095
Contract liabilities [7,22] 1,761 1,709
Other current liabilities [22] 1,878 2,187
Income tax liabilities [22] 747 895
Liabilities in connection with non-current assets classified as held for
sale and disposal groups [3] 85 863
CURRENT LIABILITIES $ 12,759 § 13,337
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES $ 87,465 $ 94,583
On behalf of the board

/ .
/s/%d | Chaseceeconl

Stephen F. Angel Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig
Chief Executive Officer and Director Director

30 April 2020
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED EQUITY

Other reserves

Retained
earnings .
(including Total equity
Called-up remeasurement Currency attributable Non-
share Share of defined translation Hedging Treasury to Linde plc controlling Total
(Millions of dollars) capital ~ premium pepefit plans)  differences instruments Other shares shareholders interests equity
AS AT 01/01/2018 $ 4% 4207 $ 8,607 $ 502 $ @s — $ (7,196) $ 6,123 $ 493 § 6,616
Profit for the year - - 4,775 — — - — 4,775 28 4,803
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) — - (55) (625) (1) - — (681) 34 (647)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME — — 4,720 (625) 4)) — — 4,094 62 4,156
Dividend payments - - (1,166) — — - — (1,166) 49) (1,215)
Changes as a result of share option schemes and
stock purchase plans - 29 — — — - 84 113 — 113
Other changes — — — — — — (630) (630) — (630)
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS BY AND
DISTRIBUTIONS TO OWNERS OF THE — 29 (1,166) — — — (546) (1,683) 49) 1,732)
EQRNAAIN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES — (127) — — — — — (127) (186) (313)
IMPACT OF MERGER (Notes 2 and 17) 3) (4,109) 40,287 — — — 7,113 43,288 5,774 49,062
AT 31/12/2018 $ 19 — 3 52,448 $ (123) $ 2)$s — $ (6298 51,695 $ 6,094 $57,789
Profit for the year - — 2,148 — — - — 2,148 139 2,287
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) — — (456) 196 (25) - — (285) (89) (374)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME — — 1,692 196 (25) — — 1,863 50 1,913
Dividend payments - — (1,891) — — - — (1,891) (184) (2,075)
Changes as a result of share option schemes and
stock purchase plans — — — — — 59 (2,527) (2,468) —  (2,468)
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS BY AND
DISTRIBUTIONS TO OWNERS OF THE — — (1,891) — — 59 (2,527) (4,359) (184) (4,543)
EQRNARSYIN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES — — — — — — — — (3,018) (3,018)
AT 31/12/2019 $ 19 — $ 52,249 $ 73 $ 27)$ 59 $ (3,156) $ 49,199 $ 2,942 $52,141
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For The Years Ended 31 December

(Millions of dollars) Note 2019 2018
Profit for the year attributable to Linde plc shareholders $ 2,148 § 4,775
Less: Profit for the year from discontinued operations 87) (90)
Add: Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling

interests 132 20
Profit for the year from continuing operations 2,193 4,705

Adjustments to profit after tax to calculate cash flow from
operating activities — continuing operations

Restructuring and merger costs, and other (236) 40
Amortization of intangible assets/depreciation of tangible assets [12,13,21] 5,144 1,863
Impairments of financial assets — 25
Amortization of merger-related inventory step-up 11 369
Deferred income taxes, excluding Tax Act (336) (228)
Tax Act income tax charge, net — (61)
Gain on divestiture of business (108) (3,407)
Share of profit and loss from associates and joint ventures (at equity) [14] (63) (54)
Distributions/dividends received from associates and joint ventures [14] 69 58
Share based compensation 95 62
Non-cash charges and other (152) 122
Changes in assets and liabilities

Change in trade receivables [16] 52 (119)
Contract assets & liabilities [7] 86 —
Change in inventories [15] (86) 3)
Change in prepaid and other current assets [16] (68) 43
Change in payables, provisions and accruals [19,22] (193) 284
Pension contributions (94) 87)
Long-term assets, liabilities and other 246 71
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 6,560 $ 3,683
Capital expenditures m m
Acquisitions / Payments for investments in consolidated companies (225) (25)
Cash acquired in Merger transaction [2] — 1,431
Proceeds on disposal of tangible and intangible assets, and receivables from leases 5,091 5,915
CASH FLOW (FOR)/FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES $ 1,064 $ 5,435
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(Millions of dollars)
Dividend payments to Linde plc shareholders
Cash inflows/outflows due to changes of noncontrolling interests
Issuance of common stock
Purchases of common stock
Short-term debt borrowings (repayments) - net
Long-term debt borrowings
Long-term debt repayments
Cash outflows for the repayment of liabilities from leases
CASH FLOW FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Discontinued Operations

Cash provided by operating activities

Cash used for investing activities

Cash used for financing activities
CASH FLOW FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

OPENING BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Effects of currency translation

Cash and cash equivalents reported as non-current assets classified
as held for sale and disposal groups

CLOSING BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

OTHER CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income taxes paid

Interest paid, net of capitalized interest
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Note 2019 2018
$ (1,891) $ (1,166)
(3,310 (425)

72 77

(2,658) (599)

181 199

104 10

(1,561)  (3,124)

(328) )

$ (9,391) $ (5,031)

78 52

71 @4)

(2) —

5 28

[25] (1,662) 4,115
24] $ 4533 $ 617
(77) (61)

[3] 4) (138)
4] $ 2790 $ 4,533
$ 1317 $ 770

$ 253 $ 216



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

[1] Business Overview and Basis of Preparation

Linde plc ("Linde" or “the company”), a public limited company incorporated in Ireland, was formed in accordance with the
requirements of the business combination agreement, dated as of 1 June 2017, as amended (the “business combination agreement”).
Pursuant to the business combination agreement, among other things, Praxair, Inc., a Delaware corporation (‘“Praxair”), and Linde
Aktiengesellschaft, a stock corporation incorporated under the laws of Germany (“Linde AG”), agreed to combine their respective
businesses through an all-stock transaction, and become subsidiaries of the company (collectively referred to as “business
combination” or “merger”). On 31 October 2018, Linde completed the business combination. Prior to the business combination, the
company did not conduct any business activities other than those required for its formation and matters contemplated by the business
combination agreement.

The business combination has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the provisions of
IFRS 3, Business Combinations, with Praxair representing the accounting acquirer.

In connection with the business combination, the company, Praxair and Linde AG entered into various agreements with regulatory
authorities to satisfy anti-trust requirements to secure approval to consummate the business combination. These agreements included
the sale of the majority of Praxair’s European businesses (completed on 3 December 2018), the majority of Linde AG’s Americas
business (completed on 1 March 2019), select assets of Linde AG's South Korean industrial gases business (completed on 30 April
2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed on 12 July 2019), select assets of Linde AG's Indian
industrial gases business (completed on 16 December 2019) as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG businesses in
Asia that are currently expected to be sold in 2020 (collectively, the “merger-related divestitures”). See Note 3 for additional
information relating to merger-related divestitures.

Additionally, to obtain merger approval in the United States, Linde, Praxair and Linde AG entered into an agreement with the
U.S. Federal Trade Commission dated 1 October 2018 (“hold separate order” or “HSO”). Under the HSO, the company, Praxair and
Linde AG agreed to (i) continue to operate Linde AG and Praxair as independent, ongoing, economically viable, competitive
businesses held separate, distinct, and apart from each other’s operations; (ii) not coordinate any aspect of the operations of Linde AG
and Praxair, including the marketing or sale of any products; and (iii) maintain separate financial ledgers, books, and records that
report on a periodic basis, consistent with past practices, the assets, liabilities, expenses, revenues, and income of each, until certain
divestitures in the United States have been completed. The restrictions under the hold separate order were lifted 1 March 2019,
concurrent with the sale of the required merger-related divestitures in the United States.

As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of a Hold Separate Order effective on 1 March 2019, new operating
segments were created which are used by the company's Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") to allocate company resources
and assess performance. Linde’s operations consist of two major product lines: industrial gases and engineering/other. Linde’s
industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represents three of the company's new reportable segments -
Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia/South Pacific); a fourth operating segment which represents the
company's Engineering business, designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications
specifically for end customers and is managed on a worldwide basis operating in all three geographic segments. Other consists of
corporate costs and a few smaller businesses, which individually do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

Linde (Registration number 602527) is an incorporated public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland. Linde’s
registered office is located at Ten Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 T380 Ireland. Linde’s principal executive offices are located at The
Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey GU2 7XY, United Kingdom. Linde trades on the New
York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol LIN.

The consolidated financial statements of Linde for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("[ASB") as adopted by
the European Union pursuant to EU Regulation No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament, the Council on the application of International
Accounting Standards in the European Union and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the provisions of
the Irish Companies Act ("Companies Act 2014"), as applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.
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The consolidated financial statements of Linde have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following: 1) certain
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) - measured at fair value 2) certain assets and disposal groups held for
sale acquired in a business combination- measured at fair value less costs to sell and 3) defined benefit pension plans - plans assets
measured at fair value.

The reporting currency is the US dollar ("USD"). All amounts are shown in millions of US dollars ($ million), unless stated otherwise.
Expenses are presented by function in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

The annual financial statements of companies included in the consolidation are prepared at the same reporting date as the annual
financial statements of Linde plc.

The consolidated financial statements of Linde plc and subsidiaries were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 April
2020. The Board of Directors has the power to amend and reissue financial statements.

[2] Business Combinations

Merger of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG in 2018

On 31 October 2018 Praxair and Linde combined their respective businesses through an all-stock transaction and became
subsidiaries under the company.

In connection with the Business Combination, each share of common stock of Praxair, Inc. par value $0.01, (excluding any
shares held in treasury immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, which were automatically canceled and retired for no
consideration) was converted into the one share of common stock, par value €0.001 per share, of Linde plc ordinary shares.
Additionally, each tendered share of common stock of Linde AG was converted into 1.54 shares of Linde plc ordinary shares.

Finalization of Purchase Price Allocation

In accordance with the IASB's IFRS 3, Business Combinations, Praxair was determined to be the accounting acquirer. As such,
the company has applied the acquisition method of accounting with respect to the identifiable assets and liabilities of Linde AG, which
have been measured at fair value as of the date of the Business Combination.

In accordance with the Business Combination Agreement, Linde AG shareholders that accepted the Exchange Offer received
Linde plc Common Shares in exchange for Linde AG Shares at an exchange ratio of 1.54 Linde plc shares for each Linde AG share.
Because Praxair is the accounting acquirer, the fair value of the equity issued by Linde plc to Linde AG shareholders in the exchange
transaction was determined by reference to the market price of Praxair shares. Accordingly, the purchase consideration below reflects
the fair value of the 92% of Linde AG shares tendered and Linde plc shares issued in exchange for those Linde AG shares, which is
based on the final closing price of Praxair shares prior to the effective time of the merger on 31 October 2018 of $164.50 per share.
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The purchase price and fair value of Linde AG’s net assets acquired as if the merger date on 31 October 2018 is presented as
follows:

(in thousands, except value per share data, Linde AG exchange ratio, and Purchase Price)

Linde AG common stock tendered as of 31 October 2018 (i) 170,875 Shares
Business combination agreement exchange ratio (ii) 1.54:1
Linde plc ordinary shares issued in exchange for Linde AG 263,148
Per share price of Praxair, Inc. common stock (iii) $164.50
Purchase price (millions of dollars) $43,288

(1)  Number of Linde AG shares tendered in the Exchange Offer.
(ii) Exchange ratio for Linde AG shares as set forth in the Business Combination Agreement.

(iii)  Closing price of Praxair shares on the New York Stock Exchange prior to the effective time of the Business Combination
on 31 October 2018.

In accordance with IFRS 3, Linde AG's assets and liabilities were measured at fair values at 31 October 2018, primarily using
Level 3 inputs, except debt which was Level 1. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to
transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value was estimated using
management's best estimate of assumptions about future events and uncertainties, including significant judgments related to future
cash flows (sales, costs, customer attrition rates, and contributory asset charges), discount rates, competitive trends, market data input
factors, and others. Inputs used were generally obtained from historical data supplemented by current and anticipated market
conditions and growth rates.

The following table summarizes the final allocation of purchase price to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by Linde, with the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of Linde AG’s net assets recorded as goodwill. At 31 December
2019, the valuation process to determine the fair values is now complete.
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The final determination of the fair values has resulted in the values presented in the following table:

Final fair value
of assets and

liabilities

Millions of dollars acquired

Goodwill $ 24,472
Intangible assets 16,993
Tangible assets 19,936
Investments in associated and joint ventures (at equity) 526
Other long-term assets 1,013
Non-current assets S 62,940
Inventories 1,450
Trade receivables 2,709
Other assets 1,347
Cash 1,428
Assets classified as held for sale 5,579
Current assets $ 12,513
Total assets $ 75,453
Equity acquired equals purchase price paid (i) $ 43,288
Noncontrolling Interest 5,814
Total equity 49,102
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 1,165
Deferred tax liabilities 7,298
Financial liabilities 6,295
Other Long-term Liabilities 904
Non-current liabilities $ 15,662
Trade payables 3,007
Current liabilities classified as held for sale 771
Other current liabilities 6,911
Current liabilities S 10,689
Total equity and liabilities $ 75,453

(1) See above for the calculation of the purchase price.

The more significant measurement period adjustments were made for Goodwill ($ 447 million), Intangible Assets ($ 304
million), Tangible Assets ($ -439 million), Assets classified as held for sale ($ 231 million), Deferred taxes ($ 298 million) and Other
liabilities ($ 222 million).

2019 and 2018 Non Merger-Related Acquisitions
Non-merger related acquisitions of $225 million and $25 million during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are not
material individually or in the aggregate.

[3] Merger-Related Divestitures, Discontinued Operations And Assets Held For Sale

As a condition of the European Commission ("EC"), the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ"), and other governmental regulatory
authorities approval of the merger, Linde plc, Praxair and Linde AG were required to divest the following businesses:

Praxair Merger-Related Divestitures - Primarily European Industrial Gases Business

As a condition of the EC regulatory approval of the merger transaction, Praxair agreed to sell the majority of its industrial gases
business in Europe. The sale was completed by 3 December 2018 in two transactions, as described below:

*  The Societa Italiana Acetilene e Derivati S.p.A. ("SIAD") Sale and Purchase Agreement ("SPA") dated 5 December
2017 whereby Praxair agreed, inter alia, to sell its 34% non-controlling participation in its Italian joint venture SIAD
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to its joint venture partner Flow Fin in exchange for Flow Fin’s 40% non-controlling participation in Praxair’s
consolidated subsidiary, Rivoira S.p.A., and payment of a net purchase price of €90 million ($102 million as of 31
October 2018) by Praxair to Flow Fin. This transaction was completed on 31 October 2018 and,

*  The Praxair Europe Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 5 July 2018 pursuant to which Praxair sold the majority of its
European businesses to Taiyo Nippon Sanso Corporation for €5 billion in cash consideration ($5.7 billion at 3 December
2018), reduced by normal closing adjustments of €86 million ($96 million). These transactions were completed on 3
December 2018.

In connection with these transactions, the company recognized a net pre-tax gain of $3.8 billion ($3.4 billion after tax) in the
consolidated statements of profit and loss as part of the net gain on divestiture of businesses.
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The net carrying value of Praxair's European business assets and liabilities divested on 3 December 2018 is presented below:

(Millions of dollars) Carrying Value
Tangible assets $ 1,342
Investments in associates and joint ventures (at equity) 234
Goodwill 620
Other intangible assets 115
Other receivables and other assets 36
Total Non-Current Assets 2,347
Cash and cash equivalents $ 38
Trade receivables 311
Inventories 67
Other receivables and other assets 22
Total Current Assets $ 438
Total Assets Divested $ 2,785
Financial liabilities 2
Other non-current liabilities 92
Deferred tax liabilities 174
Total Non-Current Liabilities $ 268
Trade payables 215
Income tax liabilities 27
Other current liabilities 111
Total Current Liabilities $ 353
Total Liabilities Divested $ 621
Noncontrolling interests $ 200
Pension/OPEB funded status obligation, net of taxes (8)
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of taxes 165
Net Assets Divested $ 1,807

Additionally, to satisfy regulatory requirements in other jurisdictions, Praxair agreed to sell certain operations in Chile, China,
India and South Korea. The Chilean business was sold as part of the Linde AG Americas SPA (as defined below), the select Indian assets
were sold in July 2019, and other sales are expected in 2020. Effective 22 October 2018, the date of final regulatory approvals, these
businesses have been accounted for as Non-current assets held for sale on the consolidated statement of financial position. These businesses
were evaluated for discontinued operations accounting treatment under IFRS and it was determined that they did not meet the definition
of a discontinued operation as these transactions did not represent a disposal of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, after considering the impact of the merger.

The sale of the select Indian assets was completed on 12 July 2019 with a sale price of $218 million and resulted in a gain of $164
million recognized in "Net gain on divestiture of businesses" in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

Linde AG Merger-Related Divestitures - Primarily Americas Industrial Gases Business

As a condition of the U.S. regulatory approval of the merger, Linde AG agreed to sell the majority of its industrial gases business in the
Americas, as described below:

*  The Linde AG Americas Sales and Purchase Agreement, dated 16 July 2018, as and further amended on 22 September 2018,
19 October 2018, and 20 February 2019 whereby Linde AG and Praxair, Inc. entered into an agreement with a consortium
comprising companies of the German industrial gases manufacturer Messer Group and CVC Capital Partners Fund VII to sell
the majority of Linde AG’s industrial gases business in North America and certain industrial gases business activities of Linde
AG's in South America for approximately $2.9 billion in net cash consideration after purchase price adjustments for certain
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items relating to assets and liabilities of the sold businesses. In addition, divestitures include approximately $0.5 billion of
proceeds for incremental plant sales within the Americas under other agreements. These transactions were completed on 1 March
2019.

*  On 30 April 2019, Linde completed the sale of selected assets of Linde AG Korea to IMM Private Equity Inc., to satisfy
requirements of the Korea Fair Trade Commission. The assets divested include bulk and on-site business in Giheung, Pohang
and Seosansites as well as oxygen and nitrogen on-site generators. The sale price of $1.2 billion was subject to customary
adjustments.

e On 16 December 2019, Linde completed the sale of select assets of Linde India with a sale price of $193 million.

The net carrying value of Linde AG's Americas business assets and liabilities divested on 1 March 2019 is presented below:

(Millions of dollars) Carrying Value
Tangible assets $ 1,590
Investments in associates and joint ventures (at equity) 37
Goodwill 3
Other intangible assets 10
Other receivables and other assets 76
Total Non-Current Assets 1,716
Cash and cash equivalents $ 200
Trade receivables 479
Inventories 181
Other receivables and other assets 409
Fair value adjustment of assets relating to subsidiaries acquired for
sale as part of business combination (Note 2) 1,650
Total Current Assets $ 2,919
Total Assets Divested $ 4,635
Financial liabilities 2
Other non-current liabilities 98
Deferred tax liabilities 177
Total Non-Current Liabilities $ 277
Trade payables 94
Income tax liabilities 60
Other current liabilities 767
Total Current Liabilities $ 921
Total Liabilities Divested $ 1,198
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of taxes 12
Net Assets Divested $ 3,449

The net carrying value of Linde AG's South Korean business assets and liabilities divested on 30 April 2019 is presented below:
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(Millions of dollars) Carrying Value

Tangible assets $ 389
Trade receivables 27
Inventories 16
Fair value adjustment of assets relating to subsidiaries acquired for
sale as part of business combination (Note 2) 879
Total Assets Divested $ 1,311
Financial liabilities 6
Other non-current liabilities 3
Deferred tax liabilities 31
Total Non-Current Liabilities $ 40
Trade payables 2
Income tax liabilities 12
Other current liabilities 29
Total Current Liabilities $ 43
Total Liabilities Divested $ 83
Net Assets Divested $ 1,228

Discontinued operations and net assets held for sale

Only the sales of the Linde AG merger-related divested subsidiaries meet the criteria for discontinued operations, under IFRS as
they were acquired with a view to being sold. Related pre-tax earnings of $150 million and $107 million (net of taxes of $56 million
and $9 million) for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively, are included within profit from discontinued operations,
net of tax for periods subsequent to the merger.

Net assets held for sale include both the Linde AG merger-related divestitures that meet the criteria for discontinued operations
and the Praxair merger-related divestitures that do not. As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, the following assets and liabilities are
reported as components of the net assets held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial position:

(Millions of dollars) 2019 2018
Assets
Trade receivables $ 24§ 315
Inventories 4 213
Other current receivables and other assets 25 280
Tangible assets 121 2,123
Other receivables and other assets 14 114
Fair value adjustment of assets relating to subsidiaries acquired for
sale as part of business combination (Note 2) 132 2,625
Total Non-current assets classified as held for sale $ 320 § 5,670
Liabilities
Current liabilities $ 81 § 506
Other non-current liabilities 4 357
Total liabilities in connection with non-current assets classified
as held for sale 85 863
Net Assets Classified as Held for Sale $ 235 § 4,807
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[4] Scope of consolidation

The following table provides the structure of companies included in the consolidated financial statements:

As at 31/12/2018 Additions Disposals As at 31/12/2019
Consolidated subsidiaries 717 19 143 593
Companies accounted for as a joint operation 7 0 1 6
Companies accounted for using the equity method 55 2 9 48

Changes in the scope of the consolidation may arise as a result of acquisitions, sales, mergers, closures or as a result of changes in
the assessment as to whether Linde plc exercises control or joint control.

The following table shows the subsidiaries that make use of the exemption options provided for in §264 (3)/§264b HGB for the disclosure
of the annual financial statements or the preparation of a management report/notes to the financial statements. For these companies, the
consolidated financial statements of Linde Plc are the exempting consolidated financial statements.

Overview of the German companies that make use of the exemption provision set out in
the German commercial Code (HGB)

Name Registered Office
Blue LNG GmbH & Co. KG Hamburg
Coatec Gesellschaft fiir Oberflachenveredelung mbH  Schluechtern
Commercium Immobilien- und Beteiligungs-GmbH  Munich

Gas & More GmbH Pullach
Hydromotive GmbH & Co. KG Leuna
Hydromotive Verwaltungs-GmbH Leuna

Linde Aktiengesellschaft Munich
Linde Electronics GmbH & Co. KG Pullach
Linde Electronics Verwaltungs GmbH Pullach
Linde Gas Produktionsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG Pullach
Linde Gas Therapeutics GmbH Oberschleissheim
Linde Gas Verwaltungs GmbH Pullach
Linde Holding GmbH Munich
Linde Schweifitechnik GmbH Pullach
Linde Welding GmbH Pullach
MTA GmbH Medizin-Technischer-Anlagenbau Mainhausen
Nauticor GmbH & Co. KG Hamburg
Praxair Surface Technologies GmbH Ratingen
Selas-Linde GmbH Pullach
Unterbichler Gase GmbH Munich

[5] Foreign Currency Translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in USD currency units, which is the company's functional and presentation
currency.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the company's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates ("the functional currency"). Transactions in foreign currency are translated into the relevant
functional currency of the individual entity on the transaction date. After initial recognition, foreign currency fluctuations relating to
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognized in profit and loss.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit and loss, within finance costs. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of profit and loss on a net basis within other operating
income/expense. For non-monetary items, historical translation rates form the measurement basis.

Translation differences arising from the translation of items into the reporting currency are recognized in other comprehensive
income. The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, including any fair value adjustments identified during a purchase price allocation,
that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency in accordance with
IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

Assets and liabilities, contingent liabilities, and other financial commitments are translated at the closing rate on the reporting date
(closing rate method). Items in the consolidated statement of profit and loss for the year are translated at a rate which approximates to
the translation rate on the date of the transaction (the average rate).

Foreign exchange gains and losses are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. The company did not have any net investment hedges during
the year ended 31 December 2019. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the company recognized $105 million of gains in net
investment hedges in the statement of comprehensive income within currency translation adjustments.

The financial statements of foreign companies accounted for using the equity method of accounting are translated using the same
principles for the adjustment of equity as are applied to consolidated subsidiaries.

In general, the financial statements of subsidiaries which report in a functional currency which is the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy are adjusted for the change in purchasing power arising from the inflation in accordance with IAS 29, Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies.

Principal exchange rates of Linde plc:

Statement of Profit and Loss Statement of Financial Position
Average Year Ended 31 December, 31 December,

Currency 2019 2018 2019 2018
Euro 0.89 0.85 0.89 0.87
Chinese yuan 6.90 6.60 6.96 6.88
British pound 0.78 0.75 0.75 0.78
Australia dollars 1.44 1.34 1.42 1.42
Brazilian real 3.94 3.63 4.03 3.87
Korean won 1,165 1,100 1,156 1,111
Canadian dollar 1.33 1.30 1.30 1.36
Mexican Peso 19.24 19.20 18.93 19.65
Taiwan dollars 30.90 30.13 29.99 30.55
Indian rupee 70.40 68.00 71.38 69.77
South African rand 14.43 13.16 14.00 14.35
Swedish kroner 9.45 8.68 9.37 8.85
Thailand bhat 31.04 32.30 29.71 32.33

[6] Accounting Policies
This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other notes. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements of companies included in the consolidated financial statements of Linde have been prepared using uniform
accounting policies in accordance with IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements ("IFRS 10").
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The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management judgments and estimates
for some items, which might have an impact on their recognition and measurement in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of profit and loss. The actual amounts realized may differ from these estimates.

All amounts disclosed in the financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the nearest million currency units unless
otherwise stated.

The primary accounting and valuation policies, as well as the estimates and management judgments associated with them, are
explained below:

Principles of consolidation
Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise Linde and all the companies over which Linde is able to exercise control as defined
by IFRS 10.

Control is achieved when Linde has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the investee. If Linde plc holds a majority
of the voting rights in a company, this typically indicates that it exercises control over the company in the absence of any other restrictive
contractual agreements. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the company. They are
deconsolidated from the date the control ceases.

Intra-company sales, income and expenses and accounts receivable and payable between group companies are eliminated. Intra-
company profits and losses arising from intra-company deliveries of non-current assets and inventories are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the company.

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit and
loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial
position.

Joint arrangements

Linde has several joint arrangements in which it has joint control with one or several parties through a contractual agreement. If
joint control exists, Linde needs to distinguish whether the investment is a joint operation or a joint venture. This distinction is dependent
on whether Linde has rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the arrangement or whether it has rights to the net assets of
the arrangement. To make the distinction, Linde considers the structure and legal form of the arrangement, any contractual agreements
which might apply and any other relevant circumstances.

Significant influence

Associates over which Linde plc can exercise significant influence as defined by IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures are also accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Significant influence is presumed if Linde holds (directly or
indirectly) 20 percent or more of the voting rights in an investee.

Joint ventures

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method at cost at the date of acquisition. In subsequent
periods, the carrying amount is adjusted up or down to reflect Linde’s share of the total comprehensive income of the investee. Any
distributions received from the investee and other changes in the investee’s equity reduce or increase the carrying amount of the investment.
If the losses of an associate or joint venture attributable to Linde equal or exceed the value of the interest held in this associate or joint
venture, no further losses are recognized unless Linde incurs an obligation or makes payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
The same principles apply to companies accounted for using the equity method as for the consolidation of subsidiaries.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances reflect that an impairment
may have occurred.

Joint operations

If the joint arrangement qualifies as joint operation, Linde recognizes the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its
interest in a joint operation in accordance with the IFRS's applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Other investments

Other investments, when taken individually and together, are immaterial from Linde’s point of view in terms of total assets, revenue
and profit and loss for the year and do not have a significant impact on the consolidated net assets, financial position and results of
operations of Linde.

Change in ownership interests

Linde treats transactions with noncontrolling interests that do not result in a loss of control as equity transactions. Where
noncontrolling interests are acquired, any remaining balance between the acquisition cost and the share of net assets acquired is offset
directly in equity.

When Linde loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes: the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any related noncontrolling
interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit and loss. Any interest retained in the former
subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

When Linde ceases to consolidate (or account for as an equity method investment) an investment because of a loss of control,
joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value when control is lost. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit and loss. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income
in related to that entity are accounted for as if the company had directly (or partially) disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit and loss.

Management judgments in relation to control

When assessing whether Linde exercises control, joint control or significant influence over companies in which it holds less than
100 percent of the voting rights, management judgment is required to